
AGENDA 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, March 7, 2022 

5:00 P.M. 
   

Page 1 of 1 
 

 

1. Call to Order   
2. Roll Call  
3. Invocation and Pledge  
4. Announcements  
5. Approval of the Agenda  
6. Public Input  
7. Consent Agenda  

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held February 21, 2022 

b. Approve Resolution to Adopt the Updated Water Conservation Plan 
c. Approve Georgia Academy for Economic Development Training for Councilmember Illg 
d. Approve 2022 Farmers Market Use Agreement 
e. Approve General Services Agreements with Lead Edge Design Group 
f. Approve Upgrade to Well and Lift Station Monitoring System 

 

8. Proclamations: 
• Exceptional Children’s Week, March 7 – 11, 2022 
• Employee Appreciation Day, March 4, 2022 

 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

9. ZA-C2200058: Everett Management, LLC has petitioned a zoning amendment for TMP D03 010, Located at 
239 Hwy 9 North from HB (Highway Business) to CBD (Central Business District). Public Hearing Dates:  
Planning Commission on December 13, 2021 and City Council on March 7, 2022.  City Council for a decision 
on March 21, 2022.   
 

10. VAR-C2200060:  Everett Management. LLC has petitioned to eliminate the 30’ foot buffer along the rear and 
east property lines and reduce the 40’ foot setback to 17 feet along the East property line and 20’ feet along the 
rear property line for TMP D03 010, Located at 239 Hwy 9 North.  Public Hearing:  Planning Commission on 
December 13, 2021 and City Council on March 7, 2022.  City Council for a decision on March 21, 2022.  
(Postponed by Planning Commission until February 14, 2022.) 

 

11. ZA-C2200111: City of Dawsonville and Mike Eason has petitioned a zoning amendment for TMP 092 020 002, 
Located at 374 Burt Creek Rd from R1 (Restricted Single-Family Residential District) to R3 (Single-Family 
Residential). Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on February 14, 2022, and City Council on March 
7, 2022.  City Council for a decision on March 21, 2022.   
 

12. ZA-C2200112: City of Dawsonville and Farmington Woods, LP has petitioned a zoning amendment for TMP 
093 041, Located at 34 Farmington Circle from R3 (Single-Family Residential) to R6 (Multiple-Family 
Residential District). Public Hearing Dates:  Planning Commission on February 14, 2022, and City Council on 
March 7, 2022.  City Council for a decision on March 21, 2022.   
 

13. ZA-C2200119:  SDH Atlanta, LLC has petitioned a zoning amendment for TMP 084 004 and 084 005; Located 
at 1694 and 1768 Highway 9 South from R1 (Restricted Single-Family Residential District) to R3 (Single-Family 
Residential).  Public Hearing Dates: Planning Commission on February 14, 2022, and City Council on March 
7, 2022.  City Council for a decision on March 21, 2022. 
 

14. HPMA-C2200124:  Allen Street Properties, LLC has petitioned a Historic Preservation Map Amendment for a 
portion of TMP 092B 021, Located at Land Lot 378, 439 and 440 4th District; within the Historic District of 
Dawsonville.  Public Hearing Dates:  Historic Preservation Commission on Monday, February 28, 2022, and 
City Council on March 7, 2022.  City Council for a decision on March 21, 2022. 
 

BUSINESS 
 

     EXECUTIVE SESSION, IF NEEDED 
       

     ADJOURNMENT  
 

The next scheduled City Council meeting is Monday, March 21, 2022 
 

Those persons with disabilities who require reasonable accommodations in order to allow them to observe and/or participate in this meeting or who have 
questions regarding the accessibility of the meeting, should contact the Clerk at Dawsonville City Hall at 706-265-3256 at least two (2) business days 
prior to the meeting. 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                    CONSENT AGENDA           

   
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/07/2022     
   
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 

 
   CONSIDERATION AND APPROVAL OF ITEMS BELOW; SEE ATTACHED 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS  
 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting and Work Session held February 21, 2022 

b. Approve Resolution to Adopt the Updated Water Conservation Plan 
c. Approve Georgia Academy for Economic Development Training for 

Councilmember Illg 
d. Approve 2022 Farmers Market Use Agreement 
e. Approve General Services Agreement with Lead Edge Design Group 
f. Approve Upgrade to Well and Lift Station Monitoring System 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #       7     
 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:                       APPROVE MINUTES    

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/07/2022     
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE THE MINUTES FROM: 

 
• REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION HELD FEBRUARY 21, 2022 

 
 
 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

 
 
     
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
  AMEND OR APPROVE AS PRESENTED 
 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
     REQUESTED BY:  Beverly Banister, City Clerk    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7a      
 

 

 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, February 21, 2022 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 1 of 2 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Eason called the meeting to order at 5:00 pm.   

2. ROLL CALL: Present were Councilmember John Walden, Councilmember Mark French, 
Councilmember Caleb Phillips, Councilmember William Illg, City Attorneys Kevin Tallant and Kip 
O’Kelley, City Manager Bob Bolz, City Clerk Beverly Banister, Public Works Director Trampas 
Hansard, Crew Chief Blake Croft, Planning Director David Picklesimer and Finance Administrator 
Robin Gazaway. 
 

3. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE:  Invocation and Pledge were led by Councilmember Walden. 
 

4. ANNOUNCEMENTS:  None   

5. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:  Motion to approve the agenda as presented made by J. Walden; 
second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

6. PUBLIC INPUT:  None 
 

7. CONSENT AGENDA:  Motion to approve the consent agenda for the following items (a) made by W. 
Illg; second by C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. 

 

a. Approve Minutes  
• Regular Meeting held February 7, 2022 
• Executive Session held February 7, 2022 

 

8. EMPLOYEE RECOGNITION:  The Mayor and Council awarded Robin Gazaway a one-year service 
award. City Manager Bolz introduced the City’s newest employee, Susan Bailey.     
 

BUSINESS 
 

9. ZA-C2200079: Crawford West Properties, LLC has petitioned a zoning amendment for TMP 091 010, 
Located at 2279 HWY 9 North from R1 (Restricted Single-Family Residential) to HB (Highway 
Business).  Public Hearing Date:  City Council on February 7, 2022.  City Council for a decision on 
February 21, 2022. 
 

Planning Director Picklesimer read the rezoning request. 
 

Motion to approve the rezoning request ZA-C2200079 as presented made by M. French; second by 
C. Phillips.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

10. ORDINANCE NO. 03-2022: An Ordinance To Amend The Charter Of The City Of Dawsonville For 
The Purpose Of Reapportionment Of Representative Districts Pursuant To O.C.G.A. § 36-35-3 And 
§ 36-35-4.1 (First Reading and Adoption: February 7, 2022; Second Reading and Final Adoption: 
February 21, 2022) 
 

Attorney Tallant read the second reading of the ordinance amendment.   
 

Motion to approve the second reading and final adoption of Ordinance No. 03-2022 for a Charter 
Amendment made by W. Illg; second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor. (Exhibit “A”) 
 

11. MAPLE HILL DRIVE DETENTION POND:  Mayor Eason stated City staff and the City Attorney are 
planning a meeting with the property owners of Maple Hill Drive next week and requests a motion to 
postpone.   
 

Motion to postpone the agenda item to the March 21, 2022 City Council meeting made by J. Walden; 
second by M. French.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

12. SELECTION OF AIRPORT CONSULTING SERVICES:  City Manager Bolz provided the history of 
the City’s airport consulting services firm and the need to rebid and appoint a firm every five years.   
 

Motion to appoint Lead Edge Design Group as the City’s Airport Consultant Engineering Services firm 
made by C. Phillips; second by J. Walden.  Vote carried unanimously in favor.  
 

 
 



MINUTES 
CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AND WORK SESSION  

G.L. Gilleland Council Chambers on 2nd Floor 
Monday, February 21, 2022 

5:00 P.M. 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

WORK SESSION 
 

STAFF REPORTS 
 

13. BOB BOLZ, CITY MANAGER:  City Manager Bolz provided his report in the agenda packet; the leak 
adjustment for the month was $1,142.93.   
 

14. ROBIN GAZAWAY, FINANCE ADMINISTRATOR:  Financial reports representing fund balances 
and activity through January 31, 2022 were provided in the agenda packet.  Mayor Eason inquired 
about a transfer in from reserves on the report. Finance Administrator Gazaway explained it is actually 
an increase.  The City had more revenue than expenditures, and with the requirement of having all 
funds balanced, the transfer is used as a balancing tool.  

 

ADJOURNMENT:   
 

At 5:12 p.m. a motion to adjourn the meeting was made by J. Walden; second by C. Phillips.  Vote 
carried unanimously in favor.  
 
 

                                                                               Approved this 7th day of March 2022 
 
By: CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 

         
   ___________________________________ 
   Mike Eason, Mayor 
 
   ___________________________________  
   Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
         
   William Illg, Councilmember Post 2  

 
         
   John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
   ___________________________________ 
   Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
    
 
Attested: _________________________        
               Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk 



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



Exhibit "A"



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE RESOLUTION TO ADOPT THE UPDATED WATER CONSERVATION 

PLAN 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/07/2022    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO REQUEST APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION R2022-01 TO ADOPT THE UPDATED WATER 
CONSERVATION PLAN 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• REQUIRED FOR RENEWING AND MODIFYING OF THE CITY’S GROUNDWATER 
WITHDRAWAL PERMIT 

• PREPARED BY TURNIPSEED ENGINEERS  
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Jacob Barr, Utilities Operation Manager______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #    7b    
 

 

 



Page 1 of 1 
 

RESOLUTION R2022-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  
ADOPTION OF WATER CONSERVATION PLAN 

 

 WHEREAS the City of Dawsonville realizes the need to update its water 

conservation plan to protect the natural resources of the City and comply with Georgia 

Environmental Protection Division guidelines for permitting groundwater withdrawals, 

and  

WHEREAS the City has authorized the updated Water Conservation Plan for 

the City of Dawsonville dated February 2022, 

WE HEREBY RESOLVE to adopt the Water Conservation Plan for the City of 

Dawsonville dated February 2022, as prepared by Turnipseed Engineers. 

 THIS RESOLUTION was passed by a vote of ____to____ at a City Council 

Meeting held March 7, 2022. 

 
MAYOR AND DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 

 
By:        

       Mike Eason, Mayor 
 

       
Caleb Phillips, Councilmember Post 1 

 
             
       William Illg, Councilmember Post 2 
 
             
       John Walden, Councilmember Post 3 
 
             
       Mark French, Councilmember Post 4 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk  



 
 
 

WATER CONSERVATION PLAN 
 

FOR THE 
 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEBRUARY 2022 
 
 

PROJECT NO. 833.082 



Atlanta  ◼  2255 Cumberland Parkway  ◼  Building 400   ◼   Atlanta, Georgia 30339  ◼   Tel: 770-333-0700 

Augusta  ◼  4210 Columbia Road  ◼  Building 3  ◼  Augusta, Georgia 30907  ◼  Tel: 706-863-8800 
 

 

 
 
 

WATER CONSERVATION PLAN 
 

FOR THE 
 

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

FEBRUARY 2022 
 
 

PROJECT NO. 833.082 

Prepared by: 

 



Turnipseed Engineers i City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

Table of Contents 
 

 
Executive Summary 1 

I. System Management 2 

II. Water Conservation Measures 6 

III. Drought Contingency Plan 10 

IV. Implementation of Water Conservation Measures 15 

V. Analysis of Benefits and Costs 17 

VI. Education Efforts 18 

VII. Demand Forecast 19 

VIII. Evaluation of Strategy 26 

Appendix 

 
 



Turnipseed Engineers 1 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

Executive Summary 

This updated Water Conservation Plan is prepared in accordance with requirements of Rule 

391-3-2-.04 (11) and published guidelines of Georgia Department of Natural Resources.  

As the City of Dawsonville meets growing water demands of its customers, it must 

conserve and protect critical water resources of the Coosa River basin.  The purposes of 

this plan are therefore to reduce lost and non-revenue water, establish programs for long 

term water demand management, and provide long range planning consistent with the 

Coosa-North Georgia Regional Water Plan. 

 



Turnipseed Engineers 2 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

I. System Management 

A. Existing Facilities, Production and Water Use 

The City of Dawsonville water system consists of five groundwater wells, one spring, two 

elevated storage tanks and approximately 27 miles of 2-inch through 10-inch distribution 

lines.  In addition to the existing system, the City has an emergency connection to the 

Etowah Water and Sewerage Authority water system.  A municipal water system profile is 

included in the Appendix.  A map of the water system in shown in Exhibit One on the 

following page. 

Water production data from 2017 through 2021 is summarized in Table 1 and Figure 1. 

Table 1 Water Production 2017-2021 

Year 

Water 

Produced 

(MG) 

Water 

Purchased 

(MG) 

Total 

Water 

Supplied 

(MG) 

Water 

Metered 

and 

Billed 

(MG) 

Water 

Unmetered 

and Billed 

(MG) 

Total 

Water 

Billed 

(MG) 

Water 

Metered 

and 

Unbilled 

(MG) 

Non-

Revenue 

Water 

(MG) 

Total 

Unmetered 

Water 

(MG) 

2017  77.694 15.065 92.759 73.809 0.000 73.809 0.125 18.950 18.825 
2018  82.563 8.855 91.418 76.484 0.000 76.484 0.101 14.933 14.832 
2019  102.809 0.000 102.809 82.468 0.000 82.468 0.107 20.341 20.234 
2020  110.229 0.000 110.229 84.784 0.000 84.784 0.291 25.444 25.154 
2021  118.179 0.000 118.179 88.406 0.000 88.406 0.663 29.772 29.110 

 

 

0.000

20.000

40.000

60.000

80.000

100.000

120.000

140.000

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Figure 1 Water Production 2017-2021

Total Water Supplied (MG)

Total Water Billed (MG)

Non-Revenue Water (MG)



ATLANTA
AUGUSTA
ST. SIMONS ISLAND

WELL
109

WELL
108

WELL
110

SPRING
105

WELL

WELL

WELL
106

WELL
111

METER VAULT ETOWAH
WSA CONNECTION



Turnipseed Engineers 4 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

 

B. Non-Revenue Water Data 

Prior to the 2020 Decennial Census, the US Census American Community Survey 

estimated the City population to be below 3,000.  Water service population 

estimates were also below the threshold of 3,300 for annual water audits.  Water 

audit reports are therefore not available currently.  New estimates based on 2020 

Census results, however, indicate the service population is now over 3,300, and 

water auditing procedures are planned to commence in 2022. 

Non-revenue water data is shown in Table 2 and illustrated in Figure 2. 

Table 2  Non-Revenue Water Summary, 2017-2021 

Year 

Water 
Supplied 
(MG/Year) 

Billed 
Water 
(MG/Year) 

Non-
Revenue 
Water 
(MG/Year) 

Non-Revenue 
Water as % by 
Volume of 
Water Supplied 

2017 92.759  73.809 18.950 20.4% 
2018 91.418  76.484 14.933 16.3% 
2019 102.809  82.468 20.341 19.8% 
2020 110.229  84.784 25.444 23.1% 
2021 118.179  88.406 29.772 25.2% 

 

 

0.0%

5.0%

10.0%

15.0%

20.0%

25.0%

30.0%

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Figure 2 Non-Revenue Water as % by Volume of 
Water Supplied

Non-Revenue Water as % by Volume of Water Supplied



Turnipseed Engineers 5 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

 

As seen in Figure 2, the proportions of non-revenue water volumes to the volumes 

of water supplied have increased from 2017 through 2021.  Although this would 

appear to be a negative trend, the increase reflects improved metering during the 

period.  An automated meter reading (AMR) system was completed in 2017, 

improving consumption data.  Because production meters at the wells and the 

spring were not as accurate, decreasing non-revenue water numbers in 2017 and 

2018 are misleading.  All production meters were replaced with new ultrasonic 

meters during 2019.  Improved production metering during 2019 and in following 

years, in combination with accurate consumption metering, are reflected by an 

increase in the proportion of non-revenue water recorded.  Improved data is critical 

for useful water auditing and progress toward the goal of reducing real water losses.  

Non-revenue water represented about 24% of the water supplied to the system in 

2020 and 2021, when new production meters were in use.  All billed water is 

metered.  As seen in Table 1, unbilled metered accounts only represented about 

0.5% of water supplied in 2020 and 2021.  Unmetered water accounted for almost 

all non-revenue water during the same period.  

 



Turnipseed Engineers 6 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

II. Water Conservation Measures 

To address local needs and regional goals, City water management practices are consistent 

with the Coosa-North Georgia Regional Water Plan.  The updated water conservation plan 

and City ordinances address high priorities identified in the regional water plan.  The 

following initiatives implement water supply management practices prescribed by the 

regional water plan to reduce real and apparent water losses. 

A. Leak Detection and Elimination 

Leaks may be detected by accounting practices, field observation, pressure 

problems and other methods. 

1. Accounting Practices:  A calculation of lost water should be performed 

monthly based on the following equation: 

( ) )100(%
oducedPrVolume

VolFlushedVolSoldoducedPrVolLost −−
=  

 

*volume produced = pumped plus purchased 

2. AMR Notifications:  The AMR system notifies the City of potential 

customer leaks for resolution.  While leaks on the customer side of the meter 

are not “non-revenue” usage, identifying customer leaks reduces 

unnecessary demands and requests to adjust bills resulting from leaks.  

3. Field Observations:  Field inspections are performed along line routes 

regularly by City personnel trained to identify sites with a high probability 

for leaks.  The public may also report possible leaks.  Priority for field 

investigation is based on public reports, losses indicated by accounting, 

repair history, and the age, material, and known conditions of lines.  Leaks 

found are repaired immediately. 

4. Pressure Problems:  Pressures and tank levels in the system are monitored 

by a supervisory control and data acquisition system (SCADA) and may be 



Turnipseed Engineers 7 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

tested in specific locations as needed.  Unusual flow and pressure readings 

are investigated and addressed. 

5. SCADA Operation:  The City monitors tank levels with its SCADA system 

on a constant basis to provide efficient use of storage, maintain water 

quality, prevent tank overflows, and control pumping rates. 

6. Repair Inventory:  An inventory of leaks and repairs is maintained to reduce 

the time required to find possible location of new leaks and to prioritize line 

replacements. 

7. Water line replacement:  Repair history, field inspection, operational data, 

and customer complaints are used to plan and prioritize point repairs, line 

replacements, and additional lines. 

8. Flushing Program:  Periodic flushing of lines removes mineral deposits to 

maintain adequate flow, pressure and water quality. 

B. Availability of Accurate Maps 

Accurate maps of the water system are maintained and available for viewing at City 

Hall and the Public Works Department.  The City has a GIS map of the water 

system. 

C. Meter Maintenance, Testing, Calibration, and Testing 

In 2017, the City completed an automated meter reading (AMR) system, including 

complete service meter replacement.  Billing software is integrated with reading 

software.  The AMR system identifies most malfunctioning meters and allows the 

City to monitor cumulative through-put of individual meters.  Meters are replaced 

when problems occur.  The City is considering a sampling and testing procedure 

for customer meters in the future. 

The Etowah Water and Sewerage Authority calibrates the master meter annually at 

the point from which the City purchases water from the Authority.  Octave 



Turnipseed Engineers 8 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

ultrasonic meters were installed at the City’s wells and spring in 2019.  The 

representative for Master Meter stated these meters cannot be field calibrated and 

are intended to be replaced at 10 years. 

D. Recycling and Reuse of Treated Wastewater 

The City does not recycle backwash at the two wells with filters.  Sewage from the 

City is treated and disposed in a land application system.  Treated wastewater is not 

recycled currently. 

E. Upgrades of Equipment 

The City promptly repairs or replaces equipment not operating satisfactorily.  As 

noted previously, production meters were replaced in 2019, and an AMR system 

with new meters was completed in 2017.  Water storage tanks are rehabilitated on 

a schedule.  Planned water system improvements include a new well and water line 

extensions. 

F. Enforcement of Plumbing Ordinances 

Chapter 102 of the City Code of Ordinances adopts the Georgia State Minimum 

Standard Plumbing Code (International Plumbing Code with Georgia State 

Amendments for high-efficiency plumbing fixtures and fittings).  The City enforces 

the code through permitting, inspection, and fines. 

G. Prevention of Unauthorized and Excessive Water Use 

Chapter 14 of the City Code of Ordinances prohibits unauthorized connections and 

use of unmetered water.  The Dawson County Sheriff’s Office may be informed to 

investigate suspected water theft, such as unauthorized use of water from hydrants.  

Violations may be referred to the appropriate court. 



Turnipseed Engineers 9 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

H. Selection Criteria for Conservation Measures 

The City works with its consulting engineers in planning needed capital 

improvements.  City personnel prioritize improvements in phases according to 

urgency, benefits, costs, availability of funding, and effects on user rates.  

Improvements, such as the AMR system and replacement of production meters, 

have had immediate benefits for water conservation. 

Many conservation measures, such as identifying and repairing leaks and 

maintenance of production and customer meters are incorporated in standard 

operating procedures. 

I. Potential Barriers to Implementation of Water Conservation Measures 

There are no known legal barriers to implementing water conservation measures or 

improving efficiency of the water system.  The City government has legal authority 

and has demonstrated commitment to implement beneficial policies. 

The most significant barriers are financial.  Costs of improvements, as well as all 

operational and maintenance costs, are supported by water customers.  Capital 

improvements must therefore be affordable for all customers, including residents 

with low incomes.  This requires careful prioritization and phasing of 

improvements.  Many conservation measures are incorporated into standard 

operating procedures.  Most routine measures to improve efficiency decrease costs 

of operating and therefore benefit water customers. 

J. Other Water Conservation Efforts for Further Analysis 

After the City has obtained results from future water audits, a useful step may be to 

establish an economic level of leakage (ELOL) to represent the ultimate, cost-

effective goal for efficiency.  This goal may be used in coordination with the City’s 

capital improvements plan and water audit results to prioritize and determine the 

feasibility of water conservation activities, maintenance initiatives and construction 

projects. 



Turnipseed Engineers 10 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

III. Drought Contingency Plan 

A. Drought Condition Indicators 

Conditions which reduce the normal supply of water and pressure excessively may 

be considered either a drought or emergency condition to compel the City of 

Dawsonville to put its priority use system into effect.  These conditions may be any 

one or more of the following. 

1. High water demand 

2. Drought and excessive heat conditions 

3. Low water levels or reduced recovery in wells 

4. Other supply interruptions 

5. Power failures 

6. Water main breakages or failures 

7. A drought declaration by the Director of the Georgia Environmental 
Protection Division 

8. Other emergencies and force majeure 

As a policy the City will declare a drought response consistent with and in 

conjunction with the Etowah Water and Sewerage Authority. 

B. Potable Water Use Priorities Program 

1. During a drought condition or emergency, the City will implement a priority 

use program for water usage.  The general ranking of uses in decreasing 

order of importance is: 

a. Emergency facilities for essential life support 

b. Public health, necessity and safety 

c. Domestic and personal uses, including drinking, cooking, washing, 

sanitation and health 

d. Farm uses 

e. Industrial and commercial uses 

f. Construction activities 



Turnipseed Engineers 11 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

g. Other uses such as lawn irrigation, non-commercial car washing, 

and garden watering 

h. Outdoor recreational uses, swimming pools 

i. Line flushing, except as necessary for public health or to maintain 

water quality 

j. Street cleaning and hydrant testing 

Schools and similar facilities may be temporarily closed, if necessary. 

2. The priority use system will be put into effect only during water shortage 

periods such as droughts and maintenance problem periods.  The principal 

causes for establishing water use priorities include, but are not limited to the 

indicators listed in Section A. 

 

3. The following conditions are included in the City’s priority use program: 

a. The City reserves the right to discontinue its service without notice 

for the following reasons: 

i. To prevent fraud or abuse  

ii. Consumer’s willful disregard of municipality rules 

iii. Emergency repairs 

iv. Insufficiency of water supply due to circumstances beyond 

the City’s control 

v. Legal processes  

vi. Direction of public authorities 

vii. Strike, riot, fire, natural disaster, unavoidable accident, 

actions of others or other force majeure 

 

b. The City shall have the right to adopt specific rules and regulations 

at any time to allocate water to consumers to maintain a reliable 

water supply and respond to emergencies. 



Turnipseed Engineers 12 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

c. Water usage priorities will be established for each emergency or 

condition requiring curtailed use of water, generally as listed above 

in this section.  Priorities and allocations can be established and 

enforced by the City through administrative procedures or legal 

actions, including citations and water use surcharges.  The City’s 

AMR system will provide consumption information with which the 

City can monitor and address usage issues.  If water usage must be 

strictly curtailed or rationed, it is the policy of City to seek 

compliance on a voluntary basis with coverage in the news media 

and by public announcements.  Violations may be referred to the 

Dawson County Sheriff’s Office and be heard before the appropriate 

court as necessary for serious or repeated violations and dire 

emergencies. 

d. Water rationing may be employed to address extreme water 

shortages.  In such an event, the City may determine a minimum 

requirement and allocate a volume of water for each customer per 

day based on the number of people served. 

e. If the system appears to become completely depleted, or if service 

is interrupted for an extended period in a portion of the service area, 

affected residents may be encouraged to obtain bottled water from 

private sources.  Central supply points may also be established, from 

which residents may receive water. 

C. Restrictions on Lower Priority Uses 

The City will respond to drought declarations and fully implement response 

strategies provided by Rule 391-3-30 of the Department of Natural Resources for 

Drought Management.  If circumstances require, various uses may be designated 

by time of day and/or time of week.  Discretionary water use and collection 

(storage) of water during off-peak hours may also be encouraged.  Water reuse will 

be encouraged when practical, such as wash water for watering plants.  Due to 



Turnipseed Engineers 13 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

potential need to import or export of water, restrictions will be coordinated with the 

Etowah Water and Sewerage Authority. 

Table 3 shows standard watering restrictions.  Additional restrictions and 

exemptions are provided in DNR Rule 391-3-30. 

Table 3 – Outdoor Watering Schedule 

Drought Condition Address/ Activity 
Time Permitted for 

Outdoor Watering 

Non-Drought No special 
restrictions 4:00 pm to 10:00 am 

 

Level One Drought / 
Emergency 

No special 
restrictions 4:00 pm to 10:00 am 

 

 
 

Level Two Drought / 
Emergency 

Odd Numbered 
Addresses 

Thursday, Sunday  

4:00 pm to 10:00 am  

Even Numbered 
Addresses 

Wednesday, Saturday  

4:00 pm to 10:00 am  

Level Three Drought / 
Emergency 

Food Gardens, 
Hand-watering 4:00 pm to 10:00 am 

 

 
Athletic Fields, 

Public Recreation 
Areas, Golf Courses 

Special restrictions 

 

 
 

The City’s tiered conservation water rates comply with criteria in the Coosa-North 

Georgia Regional Water Plan.  The Authority is therefore not required to develop 

a drought surcharge program. 

D. Alternative Water Sources 

The City of Dawsonville maintains a connection with Etowah Water and Sewerage 

Authority.  The agreement between the two parties allows each party to purchase 

water from the other subject to availability if needed to meet its customer demands.  

Either party may purchase a maximum of 200,000 gallons of potable water per day 

from the other to a limit of 6,000,000 gallons per month.  Either party may purchase 



Turnipseed Engineers 14 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

additional water from the other on an emergency basis by agreement between the 

Mayor of the City and the Chairman of the Authority.  A copy of this agreement is 

included in the Appendix. 

In dire emergencies or circumstances in which no water can be transmitted to a 

segment of the customer population, customers may receive water from designated 

supply points. 

 



Turnipseed Engineers 15 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

IV. Implementation of Water Conservation Measures 

The City implements water conservation measures consistent with practices described in 

the Coosa-North Georgia Regional Water Plan. 

A. Georgia Water Conservation Law Compliance 

Chapter 102 of the City Code of Ordinances adopts the Georgia State Minimum 

Standard Plumbing Code (International Plumbing Code with Georgia State 

Amendments for high-efficiency plumbing fixtures and fittings).  The City enforces 

the code through permitting, inspection, and fines. 

Chapter 14 of the City Code prohibits unauthorized connections and use of 

unmetered water.  The Dawson County Sheriff’s Office will be informed to 

investigate suspected water theft, such as unauthorized use of water from hydrants.  

Violations will be addressed in the appropriate court. 

B. Outside and Special Water Use 

Landscape irrigation and outdoor water use are subject to Georgia Rule 391-3-30 

for Drought Management and all permanent and temporary restrictions required 

under this rule.  Chapter 14 of the City Code maintains permanent restrictions. 

Car washes are subject to Georgia Rule 391-3-31 for Water Conservation Best 

Management Practices and Certification. 

C. Operating Procedures 

The City water system service population appears to have reached the threshold at 

which annual water loss audits are required.  Accounting for the audits is 



Turnipseed Engineers 16 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

commencing, with the first report due next year.  Results will be used to identify 

and implement management procedures to reduce real and apparent losses. 

Standard operating procedures in Section II of this plan implement routine 

conservation practices.      

D. Conservation Rate Structure 

The City utilizes a conservation water rate structure with four increasing rate tiers 

for all billed customer classes.  Because this structure complies with criteria in the 

regional water plan, the City is not required to develop a drought surcharge 

program. 

E. Water Conservation Progress Reports 

Copies of the City’s Water Conservation Progress Report and Water Loss Control 

Program are included in the Appendix. 

 

 



Turnipseed Engineers 17 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

V. Analysis of Benefits and Costs 

Implemented water conservation measures reduce operating costs and withdrawal 

demands.  New water auditing will produce better estimates of the costs of real and 

apparent water losses.  The complete meter replacement in 2017 substantially reduced non-

revenue water due to poor metering and provided reliable revenue to maintain and improve 

the water system.  Non-revenue water appears to have increased since new production 

meters were installed in 2019.  This observation, however, is a positive outcome because 

it reflects improved capability to measure and improve system efficiency. 



Turnipseed Engineers 18 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

VI. Education Efforts 

It is the policy of the City of Dawsonville to promote water conservation through routine 

public education, with intensified efforts during droughts and emergencies. 

Pamphlets or booklets on water supply and conservation will be placed in the water billing 

office as available from American Water Works Association, Georgia Rural Water 

Association, National Resources Conservation Service, Georgia Environmental Protection 

Division, County Extension Service and others. 

Printed materials may be provided as bill inserts.  In the future, the City  may also use a 

targeted approach by placing links on the City website on its Utilities Division page to high 

quality agency and topical resources for water conservation and watershed protection.  The 

City may also select documents or information to highlight or post from such sites.  The 

following are examples of useful websites: 

EPD Water Conservation Resources – https://epd.georgia.gov/water-conservation  

Clean Water Campaign – http://cleanwatercampaign.org/  

EPA Water Sense Kids – https://www3.epa.gov/watersense/kids/index.html  

Natural Resources Conservation Service – http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/  

United States Environmental Protection Agency - Learn about water –  

https://www.epa.gov/learn-issues/learn-about-water  

University of Georgia Extension Service – http://extension.uga.edu/  

Water Smart - water conservation – http://www.watersmart.net/  

100 ways to save water – http://wateruseitwisely.com/100-ways-to-conserve/  

 
 

https://epd.georgia.gov/water-conservation
http://cleanwatercampaign.org/
https://www3.epa.gov/watersense/kids/index.html
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/
https://www.epa.gov/learn-issues/learn-about-water
http://extension.uga.edu/
http://www.watersmart.net/
http://wateruseitwisely.com/100-ways-to-conserve/


Turnipseed Engineers 19 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

VII. Demand Forecast 

Tables 4, 5, 6 and 7 show population and water demand data and projections for the 

Dawsonville water system.  Population data to 2020 is provided by United States Census 

Bureau Decennial Censuses.  The Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget 2020 

population projections for Dawson County to 2065 were used to project proportional City 

and service area populations beyond 2020. 

 

Table 4 Population Projections 

Year 
Dawson 

County 1,2 

Dawson 

County Growth 

Rate 

City Population1,3 
Service 

Population,3,4 

1980 4,774   342   
1990 9,429  97.5% 467   
2000 15,999  69.7% 619   
2010 22,330  39.6% 2,536   
2020 26,798  20.0% 3,720  3,409  
2025 31,420  17.2% 4,362  3,997  
2030 36,790  17.1% 5,107  4,680  
2035 39,781  8.1% 5,522  5,061  
2040 43,867  10.3% 6,089  5,580  
2045 48,072  9.6% 6,673  6,115  
2050 52,901  10.0% 7,344  6,730  

Sources:     
1US Census Bureau Decennial Census 1980-2020   
2Georgia County Residential Projections 2020 to 2065, OPB 2020  
3From 2025-2065, City and service populations are projected according to county growth rate. 
42020 Service population is estimated by persons per housing unit from the 2020 Census 
    (2.57), multiplied by the number of residential services.  

 

  



Turnipseed Engineers 20 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

Table 5 Water Demand 2017-2021 

Year 

Annual Average 

Daily Demand 

(MGD) 

High Month 

Average Daily 

Water Demand 

(MGD) 

Maximum 24-

hour Water 

Demand (MGD) 

Ratio of High 

Month 

Average Daily 

to AADD 

Ratio of 

Maximum 24-

hour demand to 

AADD 

2017 0.254    0.378    1.5  
2018 0.250    0.356    1.4  
2019 0.282    0.467    1.7  
2020 0.301  0.356  0.546  1.2  1.8  
2021 0.324  0.343  0.498  1.1  1.5  

From operating data provided by the City, 2017-2021     
   



Turnipseed Engineers 21 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

Table 6 Monthly Water Distribution 

Month 

Total 

Distribution 

(Gallons) 

Total 

Distribution 

(MG) 

Monthly Daily 

Average 

Distribution 

(MGD) 

 

2021  

January 8,905,900 8.906 0.287  
February 7,865,400 7.865 0.281  
March 9,496,900 9.497 0.306  
April 9,725,300 9.725 0.324  
May 10,374,200 10.374 0.335  
June 10,162,200 10.162 0.339  
July 10,345,500 10.346 0.334  
August 11,038,300 11.038 0.356  
September 10,638,800 10.639 0.355  
October 10,519,500 10.520 0.339  
November 9,073,400 9.073 0.302  

December 10,036,100 10.036 0.324  

Totals 118,181,500 118.182 0.324  

High Month     0.356  
     

Month 

Total 

Distribution 

(Gallons) 

Total 

Distribution 

(MG) 

Total 

Distribution 

(MG) 

 

 

2020  

January 8,512,900 8.513 0.275  
February 7,751,700 7.752 0.267  
March 8,134,200 8.134 0.262  
April 8,455,000 8.455 0.282  
May 9,005,500 9.006 0.291  
June 9,535,100 9.535 0.318  
July 10,625,200 10.625 0.343  
August 10,589,400 10.589 0.342  
September 10,025,900 10.026 0.334  
October 9,570,900 9.571 0.309  
November 9,010,300 9.010 0.300  

December 9,012,400 9.012 0.291  

Totals 110,228,500 110.229 0.301  

High Month     0.343  



Turnipseed Engineers 22 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022 Watershed Conservation Plan 

Table 7 Demand Projections 

Year 

Annual Average 

CNGWPR Per 

Capita Daily 

Demand for 

Dawson County 

(GPD)1 

City Service 

Population 

Annual 

Average Daily 

Demand from 

CNGWPR 

Projections 

(MGD)2 

High Month 

Demand from 

CNGWPR 

Projections 

(MGD)2,4 

Maximum 24-

Hour 

Demand from 

CNGWPR 

Projections 

(MGD)2,5 

Average 

Annual Daily 

Demand 

based on City 

Data (MGD)3 

High Month 

Demand from 

City Data 

(MGD)3,4 

Maximum 

24-Hour 

Demand from 

City Data 

(MGD)5 

2020 156.3 3,409  0.533 0.639 0.853 0.324 0.356 0.546 
2025 155.6 3,997  0.622 0.746 0.995 0.377 0.452 0.603 
2030 154.9 4,680  0.725 0.870 1.160 0.438 0.525 0.700 
2035 154.2 5,061  0.780 0.936 1.248 0.470 0.564 0.751 
2040 153.4 5,580  0.856 1.027 1.370 0.514 0.616 0.822 
2045 152.7 6,115  0.933 1.120 1.494 0.558 0.670 0.893 
2050 151.9 6,730  1.022 1.227 1.636 0.609 0.731 0.975 

1Per capita demands and efficiency adjustments from the Coosa-North Georgia Water Planning Region Water and Wastewater Forecasting  
     Technical Memorandum, March 30, 2017  

     
2Coosa-North Georgia Water Planning Region per-capita projections multiplied by service population   
3Projected from 2021 City demand, increasing proportionally to population, less CNGWPR efficiency reduction of 0.15 GPD per capita per year 
4Average annual daily demand multiplied by 1.2.      
5Average annual daily demand multiplied by 1.6.      



Turnipseed Engineers 23 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

Future water demands were first estimated based on projected service populations 

multiplied by per capita demands with plumbing efficiency adjustments for Dawson 

County from the Water and Wastewater Forecasting Technical Memorandum dated March 

30, 2017 of the Coosa-North Georgia Water Planning Region.  Using regional water plan 

estimates, 2035 annual average daily demand was projected to be 0.78 MGD.  In 2035, a 

high monthly average daily demand of 0.94 MGD and a maximum 24-hour demand of 1.25 

MGD were projected. 

For comparison, separate projections were based on actual demands, with increases 

proportional to projected growth of the service population.  These estimates were also 

reduced by 0.15 gallons per day (GPD) per capita per year to reflect estimates of plumbing 

efficiency under required codes.  This reduction for  Dawson County was provided by the 

region Technical Memorandum.  An annual average daily demand of 0.47 million gallons 

per day (MGD), a high monthly average daily demand of 0.56 MGD, and a maximum 24-

hour demand of 0.75 MGD were projected in 2035.  In 2045, an annual average daily 

demand of 0.56 million MGD, a high monthly average daily demand of 0.67 MGD, and a 

maximum 24-hour demand of 0.89 MGD were projected. 

Each method of projecting demand has limitations.  Per capita demand estimates in the 

regional water plan forecast appear high based on City demand data.  Projections based on 

these estimates for 2020 significantly exceeded actual demands in 2020 and 2021. 

Using OPB county growth projections and existing demand to estimate growth in City 

water demand, however, may underestimate demand.  Figure 3 shows actual City 

population and a trend line based on Census data from 2000 to 2020.  Beyond 2020, City 

growth shown is proportional to OPB projections for Dawson County.  The actual City 

growth rate from 2000 to 2020 exceeds the long-term OPB projected growth rate.  Trends 

of migration to the Dawsonville area from more densely populated metropolitan areas have 

exceeded previous American Community Survey estimates and continue.  The OPB 

population projections are the best available for long-term growth, but do not appear 

conservative in planning water supply for the city service population during the next 

decade, during which the current rate of growth may not slow.  



Turnipseed Engineers 24 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

Demand projections using both methods are illustrated in Figure 4. 

 

 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

7,000

8,000

9,000

2000 2010 2020 2030 2040 2050

Figure 3 Population Projections

City Population Service Population City Population Trend 2000-2020

0.000

0.200

0.400

0.600

0.800

1.000

1.200

1.400

1.600

1.800

2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 2045 2050

Figure 4 Demand Projections

Maximum 24-Hour Demand from CNGWPR Projections (MGD)

High Month Demand from CNGWPR Projections (MGD)

Annual Average Daily Demand from CNGWPR Projections (MGD)

High Month Demand from City Data (MGD)

Average Annual Daily Demand based on City Data (MGD)



Turnipseed Engineers 25 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

 

To plan for required water supply in the next decade, both methods should be considered. 

For 2035, this study recommends using the average of projections based on the Coosa-

North Georgia Water Planning Region Forecasting Technical Memorandum and 

projections based on current demands.  A permitted capacity of an annual average of 0.65 

MGD and a monthly average of 0.75 MGD is therefore recommended.  Total supply 

capacity of 1.0 MGD is recommended to meet maximum 24-hour demands in the next 

decade. 



Turnipseed Engineers 26 City of Dawsonville 
Project 833.082 – February 2022  Watershed Conservation Plan 

VIII. Evaluation of Strategy 

Continued growth in the City of Dawsonville and the surrounding area depends on the 

availability of a safe and reliable water supply.  Implementation of an updated water 

conservation plan will help to ensure this supply.  Improved production metering and audit 

practices will produce reliable data and loss reports to use in system management and plan 

implementation.  Future City growth, capital improvements, results of water conservation 

measures and changes in the service area will prompt future refinements and modifications 

to this plan. 

The City Council will review and certify this water conservation plan. 

 



 

Appendix 



 

Appendix A – Water System Profile 



A.  SERVICE CHARACTERISTICS NUMBER
1)  Estimated Service Population 3640
2)  Estimated Service Area (square miles) - Provide Map 8.6 square miles
3)  Interconnections with other systems (provide copies of contractual agreements) 1
4)  Provide copy of signed House Bill 489 Service Delivery Agreement 1 Enclosed
5)  Number of treatment plants (Provide copies of discharge permits) 5 well and spring plants
B.  ANNUAL WATER SUPPLY 2021 (FROM MONTHLY OPERATING REPORTS) ANNUAL VOLUME (GALLONS) PERCENT METERED
1)  Groundwater 118,178,500 100%
2)  Surface Water
3)  Purchases - raw
4)  Purchases - treated 0 100%
5)  Total annual water supply 118,178,500
C.  SERVICE CONNECTIONS CONNECTIONS PERCENT METERED
1)  Residential - single-family/multi-family 1418 100
2)  Commercial/retail 178 100
3)  Industrial 4 100
4)  Public (churches, libraries, etc.) 
5)  Other
D.  WASTEWATER DISCHARGE TOTAL CONNECTIONS NUMBER ON SEPTIC NUMBER CONNECTED TO SEWER
1)  Residential - single-family/multi-family 1418 132 1286
2)  Commercial/retail 178 1 153
3)  Industrial 4 0 4
4)  Public (churches, libraries, etc.)
5)  Other
E.  WATER DEMAND (TO SYSTEM) ANNUAL VOLUME (GALLONS) PERCENT OF TOTAL WATER USED AVERAGE WATER USED PER CONNECTION (GALLONS)
1)  Metered residential sales 59,905,972 50.7% 42,247
2)  Metered commercial sales 26,691,715 22.6% 149,953
3)  Metered industrial sales 8,269,100 7.0% 2,067,275
4)  Other metered sales 0.0% 0
5)  Unmetered sales
6)  Non-revenue water 2 23,311,713 19.7%
7)  Total system demand (total distribution) 118,178,500 100.0%
F.  AVERAGE & PEAK DEMAND VOLUME (GALLONS) TOTAL SUPPLY CAPACITY PERCENT OF TOTAL CAPACITY
1)  Average-day demand (withdrawal) 323,777 1,000,000 32%
2)  Maximum-day demand (withdrawal) 498,100 1,000,000 50%
G.  PRICING RATE STRUCTURE 3 METER SCHEDULE 4 BILLING SCHEDULE 3

1)  Residential rate Increasing Block Monthly Monthly
2)  Non-residential rate Increasing Block Monthly Monthly
3)  Other rate Uniform Per Usage Monthly
H.  WATER CONSERVATION MEASURES QUANTITY (GALLONS) PERCENT OF TOTAL CAPACITY
1)  Improved metering (Negative annual volume reflects improved data since new meters in service.) (6,300,000)                                             -5.3%

CITY OF DAWSONVILLE WATER SYSTEM PROFILE - 2021



1  Each water provider shall provide a signed service delivery agreement depicting service areas for water and sewer so as to minimize inefficiencies resulting from duplication of services. This
   agreement shall be signed by all water providers within the given county.  Also provide a map depicting the delivery areas for each water provider in the given county.
2  Non-revenue water is water not sold to customers.
3  Uniform, increasing block, decreasing-block, seasonal, or other (please specify and provide copies of any surcharges which may apply to certain customers)
4  Quarterly, monthly, or other (please specify)

I. Describe the condition, calibration frequency, type, etc. of raw and finished water metering.

J. Provide an analysis of in-plant water use for filter backwashing, overflows, laboratory use, etc. as a percentage of total plant production.
Well 111 avg backwash- one time a day (8,800 gal per backwash cycle)
Well 108 avg backwash- one time every 3 days (4,200 gal per backwash cycle)
Bachwash represents approximately 3% of overall production.

K. Describe any recycling or reuse of filter backwash water.
None.

L. Describe effects of rate structure implementation on water conservation efforts.
The increasing block structure discourages excessive high volume use.

M. Is the water system financially self-supporting?   yes

N. Are water system expenditures subsidized by non-water/sewer system revenues? no

O. Describe any system policies concerning second meters for landscape irrigation and any use of sewer meters for billing.
None.

In 2019, well meters were replaced with Octave ultrasonic water meters.  These meters have no moving parts and cannot be calibrated in the field.  They are warranted for 10 years.



 

Appendix B – Service Delivery Strategy 











































































































 

Appendix C – Intergovernmental Agreement 











 

Appendix D – Water Conservation Progress Report 

  



 

Page 1 
Version 1 – 11/18/2020 
 

 
Water Conservation Progress Report (Municipal) 

Groundwater Withdrawal Permit 
 

Permit Number: 042-0001 

Permit Holder: City of Dawsonville 

River Basin: Coosa River 

Permit Limits (mgd): 0.500 MGD monthly average; 0.500 MGD annual average 

 
1. Water System Usage 

 

Report 
Year 

(month/yr) 

Non-Revenue 
Water1     

(annual avg 
gal/day) 

Annual 
Average 

Daily 
Withdrawal 
(AADW) in 

(gal/day) 

Service Area 
Population 

(pop)* 

Equivalent Per 
Capita Usage 

(gal/capita/day)2 

(AADW/pop) 

 
 

 
12/2017 51,918  212,861  2,424  88   

12/2018            40,913  226,199  2,540  89   

12 /2019            55,729  281,669  2,641  107   

12/2020            69,520  301,171  3,409  88   

12/2021 81,567  323,777  3,640  89   

*Service populations are estimated by persons per housing unit from the 2020 Census (2.57),  

   multiplied by number of residential services.  Estimates are interpolated for 2018 and 2019.  

 
1Non-Revenue Water (NRW) is the difference between the volume of water supplied to a system (Water 
Withdrawn + Purchased Water) and volume of water billed to customers.  

 
Non-Revenue Water = Water Supplied – Water Billed to Customers  

 
2Per Capita Usage is calculated with the following formula: 

 
Per Capita Usage = Annual Average Daily Withdrawal / Population  

 
Note:  Calculations for the above parameters apply only to service area of the system.  Water sold outside 
the service area should be subtracted from the Water Withdrawn value.  

 
 
 

 
 



 

Page 2 
Version 1 – 11/18/2020 

 
 
 
2. Provide a brief description of actions taken to improve water conservation and reduce 

water loss in the following areas:    
 

Leak Detection and Repair (Systems Serving Population Less than 3,300 Only) 
 
Performance Measure: Non-revenue water  
Current Status: 25.2% by volume supplied  
Goal: Long-term NRW reduction 
  

In Progress / Completed Actions Beginning Date Projected / Actual Completion 
Date 

AMR system installation Complete 2017 
Inventory of leaks and repairs In place On-going 
Check pressures as complaints arose On-going On-going 
Leak surveillance and response On-going On-going 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   
   

   
   

 
 

Meter Testing, Installation, Calibration, or Replacement (Systems Serving Population Less than 3,300 Only) 
 
Performance Measure: Meter Accuracy  
Current Status: New meters in service  
Goal: Scheduled testing of all 
  
In Progress / Completed Actions Beginning Date Projected / Actual 

Completion Date 
Replace defective production meters Complete 2029 
Replace customer meters Complete 2017 
Implement long-term testing/replacement sched, w AMR diagnostics. In place On-going 
All billed accounts are metered. Complete 2017 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments: 
Master Meter states the Octave ultrasonic production meters at the wells 
cannot be field-calibrated and are designed to be replaced at 10 years. 

  

City is considering plans to begin sampling/testing customer meters on 
5-7 year basis. 

  

 
 
 
 
 

  



 

Page 3 
Version 1 – 11/18/2020 

Summer and/or Peak Use Surcharges (All Systems) 
 
  
In Progress / Completed Actions Beginning 

Date 
Projected / Actual 
Completion Date 

The City does not employ seasonal or peak use surcharges. N/A N/A 
The City utilizes block rates with rates tiers increasing with usage to 
encourage conservation all year 

Current Current 

_________________________________ ________ __________ 
_________________________________ ________ __________ 
_________________________________ ________ __________ 
_________________________________ ________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   
   

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 
 

Enforcement of Ultra-Low Flow Plumbing Fixture Requirements (All Systems) 
 
  
In Progress / Completed Actions Beginning 

Date 
Projected / Actual 
Completion Date 

The City permits and inspects construction to enforce its building codes, 
which include the Georgia State Minimum Standard Plumbing Code 
(International Plumbing Code with Georgia State Amendments for high-
efficiency plumbing fixtures and fittings) 

Current Continuous 

_________________________________ _________ __________ 
_________________________________ _________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   
   

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 4 
Version 1 – 11/18/2020 

 
Other Measure: Other Water Conservation Measures (All Systems, If Applicable) 
 
  
In Progress / Completed Actions Beginning 

Date 
Projected / Actual 
Completion Date 

The City has implemented Georgia Rules for outdoor water use. Current Continuous 
The City utilizes the AMR system to notify customers of possible leaks. 2017 Continuous 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   

   
   
   
   
   

 
Notes / Comments (All Systems, If Applicable) 
 
   
   

   
   
   
   
   

 
 
 
 
            _________________________________   Robert D. Bolz, City Manager 

Official Signature of Owner or    Printed Name of Owner or 
Authorized Official      Authorized Official 
 
 

Date February 4, 2022 
 
 



 

Appendix E – Water Loss Control Program 



 
Water Loss Control Program 

Date:  February 4, 2022 Facility Name: City of Dawsonville Water System, Permit No: 042-0001  

In accordance with 391-3-33, Public Water Systems that regularly serve 3,300 or more individuals shall: 

 

1. Conduct an annual water loss audits in accordance with American Water Works Association 

(AWWA) methodology;  

2. Develop and conduct a water loss control program to investigate, assess, and implement efforts 

to improve water supply efficiency;   

3. Establish individual goals to set measures of water supply efficiency and improve water supply 

efficiency; and 

4. Make progress toward improving water supply efficiency. 

 

In order to streamline the data submitted to meet these requirements, please use the template forms 

below.  Note that a system’s water loss control program should reflect the results of the applicable annual 

water loss audits.  Namely, the program should address at least the 3 recommendations offered by the 

most recent annual water loss audit.  Please transfer each of the water audit recommendations to the 

forms below and address your system’s proposed actions to deal with those items.  You may also use the 

“Notes/Comments” section to provide context or further information about any proposed actions.  If you 

have any goals addressing other priority areas, please capture those items on additional copies of pages 

3 or 4.  

 

Audit Recommendation Area #1:  Annual Water Loss Audits 

Performance Measure:                       NA                     ___  
Current Status:                       NA                     ___  
Goal:                       NA                     ___ 
   

Proposed Actions Anticipated Beginning Date Projected Completion Date 
Commence Annual Water Loss Audits     2/2022 (monitoring) 3/1/ 2023 (first report) 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   

(1) Prior to the 2020 Census, US Census American Community 
Survey estimates to 2019 indicated the City population was 
below 3,000, and service population estimates were also less. 

(2) New estimates based on 2020 Census results and current 
residential service accounts indicate the service population is 
now over 3,300. 

 

  

   



 

2 
 

Audit Recommendation Area #2:  Authorized Consumption 

Performance Measure: Unbilled, unmetered_____  
Current Status:                      NA                  ___  
Goal:                       5_____________ 
   

Proposed Actions Anticipated Beginning Date Projected Completion Date 
Utilize accepted default value initially 2/2022 (monitoring) 3/1/ 2023 (first report)    
Establish policy for unbilled, unmetered 2/2022 (monitoring) 3/1/ 2023 (first report) 
Evaluate documentation of events 2/2022 (monitoring) 3/1/ 2023 (first report) 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   
   

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 

Audit Recommendation Area #3:  Apparent Losses 

Performance Measure: Unauthorized consumption  
Current Status:                    NA                  ___  
Goal: _________5__________ 
   

Proposed Actions Anticipated Beginning Date Projected Completion Date 
Utilize accepted default value initially 2/2022 (monitoring) 3/1/ 2023 (first report)    
Establish policy for unauthorized use 2/2022 (monitoring) 3/1/ 2023 (first report) 
Track sample events______________ 2/2022 (monitoring) 3/1/ 2023 (first report) 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   
   

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 



 

3 
 

Other Priority Area:  Water Supplied__ 

Performance Measure: Volume from own sources  
Current Status:                 N/A                     ___  
Goal: _______ _6_____________ 
   

Proposed Actions Anticipated Beginning Date Projected Completion Date 
New production meters installed (all) Complete 2019 
Formalize annual accuracy testing 2022 On-going 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   
   

   
   
   
   
   
   
   

 

Other Priority Area:  Apparent Losses__ 

Performance Measure: Data handling errors  
Current Status:                 NA                   ___  
Goal: ________6____________ 
   

Proposed Actions Anticipated Beginning Date Projected Completion Date 
Written account policy, SOP________              2022_____  3/1/ 2023 (first report)    
Computerized billing system________         Complete____               2017  _______ 
Internal annual audit______________              2022_____  3/1/ 2023 (first report)    
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 
_________________________________ __________ __________ 

   
Notes / Comments:   
   

   
   
   
   
   
   

 



 

4 
 

 

Priority Area:  ________________________________ 

Notes / Comments:   
   

   
   
   

   
   
   
   
   
   

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE GEORGIA ACADEMY FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT TRAINING 

FOR COUNCILMEMBER ILLG 
 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/07/2022    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO REQUEST APPROVAL FOR TRAINING EXPENSES FOR COUNCILMEMBER ILLG TO 
ATTEND THE GEORGIA ACADEMY FOR ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

 

 TRAINING: $195.00 
     MEAL AND DAILY PER DIEM: $120.00 
     MILEAGE: $30 (APPROX) 
 

    APPROXIMATE TOTAL: $345 TO BE PAID OUT OF FY2022 BUDGETED FUNDS 
    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• TRAINING IS ONE DAY, APRIL 27TH FROM 8:30 – 4:30 PM AT RAMSEY CONFERENCE 
CENTER AT LANIER TECH IN GAINESVILLE, GA 

• COURSE IS SUITED FOR ELECTED OFFICIALS: INTERACTIVE COURSE TO 
ENCHANCE COLLABORATIVE LEADERSHIP SKILLS WHILE LEARNING ESSENTIAL 
ELEMENTS FOR A COMMUNITY TO EXPERIENCE A VIBRANT ECONOMY AND 
MANAGEABLE GROWTH 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Beverly A. Banister, City Clerk______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7c     
 

 

 





                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:        APPROVE 2022 FARMERS MARKET USE AGREEMENT   

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/07/2022      
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #  NA      

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 
     TO APPROVE FARMER’S MARKET USE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY AND THE 

DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE FOR THE USE OF THE FARMER’S MARKET 
BY THE AMICALOLA REGIONAL FARMERS MARKET (ARFM) DURING THE 2022 SEASON 

 
 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• THIRD SEASON OF RENTING THE SPACE FOR THE ARFM 
• APPROVED BY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 

       

• EVERY SATURDAY STARTING APRIL 30, 2022 THROUGH AND INCLUDING OCTOBER 
15, 2022 – 8:00 AM TO 1:00 PM 

• EVERY WEDNESDAY STARTING JUNE 15, 2022 THROUGH AND INCLUDING OCTOBER 
12, 2022 – 3:00 PM TO 5:00 PM 

    
 
 

     OPTIONS: 
           
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL OF THE AGREEMENT 
 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY:  Bob Bolz, City Manager    

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

 AGENDA ITEM #   7d      
 

 

 



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

 FARMERS MARKET USE AGREEMENT 

This Farmers Market Use Agreement (hereinafter referred to as the “Agreement”) 

is entered into and effective this ____ day of ___________, 2022, by and between 

the CITY OF DAWSONVILLE (hereinafter referred to as “CITY”), a Georgia municipal 

corporation, and the DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF COMMERCE, INC., a 

Georgia non-profit corporation, by and through its authorized committee the 

AMICALOLA REGIONAL FARMERS MARKET, (hereinafter referred to as 

“CHAMBER”) for the use of the CITY’s Farmers Market Pavilion located on Allen Street 

(hereinafter referred to as “the Pavilion”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the parties hereto previously entered into a Farmers Market Use 

Agreement on July 1, 2019 (the “2019 Agreement) which has been renewed multiple 

times; and 

WHEREAS, as the use of the Pavilion for a Farmer’s Market has continued, the 

relationship between the parties for this purpose has evolved, and the parties have 

determined that this Agreement serves the best interest of all parties at this time. 

NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and 

obligations set forth herein and other good and valuable consideration mutually 

exchanged this date between parties hereto, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1. Term of this Agreement. This Agreement shall become effective on execution 

by the parties and shall continue in full force and effect until terminated. The CHAMBER 



 

Page 2 of 5 
 

shall have use of the Pavilion as set forth hereinafter on “Scheduled Days” (as hereinafter 

defined) from April 30, 2022 until October 15, 2022.  This Agreement shall terminate 

after October 15, 2022, unless renewed by the parties in writing.    

3. Consideration. In consideration of the right to use the Pavilion to hold farmers 

markets on Scheduled Days, CHAMBER agrees to pay fifteen dollars ($15) per month for 

three (3) months to the CITY beginning April 30, 2022, and twenty dollars ($20) for four 

(4) months beginning July 30, 2022.  For the months of April and October, any permitted 

dates which are not utilized will result in pro-rated consideration under this Agreement.  

“Scheduled Days” shall be as follows: 

 (a) Every Saturday beginning on April 30, 2022 through and including October 15, 

2022, from 8:00 AM until 1:00 PM. 

 (b) Every Wednesday beginning June 15, 2022, through and including October 12, 

2022, from 3:00 PM to 5:00 PM. 

4. Duties and Obligations of CITY. CITY shall provide use of the City’s Pavilion 

to the CHAMBER on each Schedule Day during the Term. Each vendor will be allocated 

approximately an 8’ wide by 20’ long space under the Pavilion. CITY hereby agrees to not 

allow any other farmers markets or individual vendors to sell products at the Pavilion or 

City Hall Complex on Scheduled Days when the CHAMBER’s Farmer’s Market is open. 

5. Duties and Obligations of CHAMBER. CHAMBER shall hold a Farmers 

Market at the Pavilion each Scheduled Day during the Term. On scheduled Saturdays, the 

Farmers Market shall not open for sales before 8:00 a.m. and shall end sales no later than 

1:00 PM. On scheduled Wednesdays the Farmers Market shall not open for sales before 



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

3:00 p.m. and shall end sales no later than 5:00 PM. CHAMBER shall be responsible for 

the policing, monitoring, and regulating products sold at each Farmers Market, as well as 

policing, monitoring, and regulating any vendors that CHAMBER allows to sell products 

at any occurrence of its Farmers Market. CHAMBER shall keep the Pavilion in a clean, 

neat, litter-free, and orderly condition, and shall be responsible for cleaning up after each 

use of the Pavilion. CHAMBER shall pick up any trash or debris left from the use of the 

Pavilion or sale of products, as well as return the Pavilion to the CITY in the condition it 

was found prior to use. CHAMBER shall not dispose, or allow any vendor to dispose of, 

any unsold merchandise on site or in on-site trash receptacles. At no time shall 

CHAMBER allow more than thirty (30) vendors to sell its products or merchandise at any 

occurrence of the Farmers Market. 

6.  Rights of City. CITY shall have the right to require CHAMBER to cease 

operations early on a Saturday due to conflicts in scheduling the use of the Pavilion. Other 

than for unanticipated or emergency conflicts, CITY agrees to notify CHAMBER three (3) 

weeks prior to the date that operations will need to be ceased early.   

7. Insurance and Indemnification. CHAMBER shall add the CITY as an 

additional insured to its existing liability insurance policy for all use of the Pavilion and 

agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold CITY, and its respective officers, directors, agents, 

and employees (together, the “Indemnified Parties”), harmless from any and all claims, 

suits, demands, debts, undertakings or proceedings of any kind or nature, whether 

meritorious or frivolous, in any way arising out of the CHAMBER’s use, or any of 

CHAMBER’s vendors uses, of the Pavilion, including liability caused in whole or in part 



 

Page 4 of 5 
 

by the Indemnified Parties. CHAMBER shall, at its own expense, appear, defend, and pay 

all attorneys’ fees and all costs, and other expenses arising therefrom or incurred in 

connection therewith; and, if any judgment shall be rendered against the Indemnified 

Parties in any such action, CHAMBER shall, at its own expense, satisfy and discharge the 

same. 

8. Binding Effect and Severability. The provisions of this Agreement shall be 

binding upon and inure to the benefit of both parties and their respective successors and 

assigns. If any provision of this Agreement or any application thereof shall be invalid or 

unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement and any other application of such 

provision shall not be affected thereby. 

9. Headings. The Section headings are for convenience and reference only and shall 

not be used to limit or otherwise affect the meaning of any provision of this Agreement. 

10. Counterparts. This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in two or more 

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed a fully enforceable original but all of which 

together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

11. Governing law, Venue and Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be construed 

in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Georgia. Both parties hereby 

consent to jurisdiction and venue in Dawson County, Georgia in any action brought to 

enforce any provision of this Agreement. 

12. Construction. All terms used in this Agreement, regardless of the number or 

gender in which they are used, shall be deemed and construed to include any other 

number, singular or plural, and by other gender, masculine, feminine, or neuter, as the 



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

context or sense of this Agreement or any section, subsection, or clause herein may 

require as if such terms had been fully and properly written in such number or gender. 

13. Modification. No changes, additions, or interlineations made to this Agreement 

shall be binding unless initialed by both parties. 

14. Non-waiver. No delay or failure by either party to exercise any right under this 

Agreement, and no partial or single exercise of that right, shall constitute a waiver of that 

or any other right, unless otherwise expressly provided herein. 

15. Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all agreements previously made 

between the parties relating to its subject matter. There are no other understandings or 

agreements between them. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this instrument on 

the date(s) set forth below with an effective date of the last to sign.   

 
 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE  DAWSON COUNTY CHAMBER OF 
  COMMERCE, INC. 
 
 
___________________________  ___________________________ 
By: Mike Eason, Mayor  By: Mandy Power, CEO 
 
 
Date:________________  Date:__________________ 
 
 
 
Attest: 
 
__________________________  __________________________ 
Beverly Banister, Clerk  Connie Smith, Secretary 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE GENERAL SERVICES AGREEMENTS WITH LEAD EDGE DESIGN 

GROUP 
 

     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/07/2022    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO APPROVE THE GENERAL SERVICES AGREEMENTS FOR AIRPORT MASTER PLANNING 
AND AIRPORT DESIGN WITH LEAD EDGE DESIGN GROUP 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• CITY COUNCIL APPOINTED LEAD EDGE DESIGN GROUP AS THE CITY’S AIRPORT 
CONSULTANT AT THE FEBRUARY 21, 2022 MEETING 
 

• APPROVED BY LEGAL 
 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
    
 STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL OF AGREEMENTS 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Bob Bolz, City Manager______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7e     
 

 

 



1 
 

GENERAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this   19th   day of   April ,   2022  , between the 
City of Dawsonville, Owner, and Lead Edge Design Group Inc., hereinafter referred to as the 
Engineer;  

WITNESSETH: 
  
 WHEREAS, while the Owner intends to accomplish improvements at Elliott Field over 
the next five years and requires professional engineering and planning services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Owner has selected the Engineer to perform professional services to 
accomplish these improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Engineer is able and desirous of providing certain professional 
engineering and planning services to the Owner; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the payments to be made and the covenants 
set forth in this Agreement to be performed by the Owner, the Engineer agrees that it shall 
faithfully perform the professional services called for the projects to be performed as listed 
below, plus any other work authorized by the Owner, in the manner and under the conditions 
described in this Agreement. 
 
 SCOPE OF SERVICES: The specified scope of services shall be detailed in a Task Order, 
which shall be prepared by the Engineer and submitted to the Owner for review and approval. 
The receipt of an approved Task Order from Owner will constitute the Engineer's Notice-to-
Proceed unless a separate Notice-to-Proceed is contemplated by the Task Order. The Engineer 
is not to undertake any work prior to the receipt of an approved Task Order executed and 
approved by the Owner.  

 
Scope of services can include, but are not limited to: Prepare project funding applications and 
capital improvements program (CIP) documents; perform design, bidding and negotiation, 
construction administration, and resident inspection services; assist with DBE Program overall 
goal updates/program administration; prepare/update Exhibit “A” property line map, Airport 
Layout Plan, and Environmental Assessments as necessary.  Construct/ rehabilitate airfield 
drainage systems; construct/rehabilitate airfield pavement, lighting, and NAVAIDS/ILS 
improvements; construct/rehabilitate airport buildings (terminals/hangars/ maintenance); 
construct/rehabilitate airport roadways and parking lots; install/upgrade airport fencing and 
security systems; Land Acquisition; and such other airport-related work as the Owner may 
deem necessary. 
 
SECTION I - BASIC SERVICES  
 
A. Project Development Phase:  
 

1. Consult with Owner, state and federal government agencies (when required) to clarify 
and define the requirements for a Task or Project and review available data.  



2 
 

2.  Advise Owner as to the necessity of Owner's providing or obtaining from others data 
or services of the types described in Section II. Assist the Owner in contracting for 
such services.  

 
3.  Prepare preliminary design necessary to determine the type, size, and scope of a Task 

or Project, based upon projected aviation activity and current airport standards in 
effect at the date of this Contract.  

 
4.  Prepare preliminary cost estimate for the Task or Project.  
 
5.  Make minor revisions to the airport layout plan as necessary to reflect the details of a 

Project.  
 
6.  Prepare applications for federal and/or state assistance grants for funding of the Task 

or Project.  
 
7.  Furnish five (5) copies of drawings, sketches, forms and reports as appropriate to the 

Owner for submission to government agencies.  
 
8.  Assist the Owner in obtaining financing for a Task or Project.  
 
9. Perform additional Services as described and required by Owner’s written authorization.  

 
B. Design Phase:   After written authorization to proceed the Engineer shall: 
 

1. In consultation with the Owner and other government agencies through conferences, 
meetings, or submission of preliminary reports as appropriate, determine the extent 
of the Project and the design criteria to be used in the final design.  

 
2.  Prepare an Engineer's report in accordance with FAA criteria, which shall include but 

not necessarily be limited to:  
a.  An analysis and reasons for the design choices;  
b.  An analysis of the manner in which the work will be accomplished; and  
c.  A project cost estimate based upon the final design.  

 
3.  Advise the Owner of needed special services as described in Section II and assist the 

Owner in the evaluation and selection of other professionals to provide special services, 
such as soil borings, laboratory tests and surveys, or provide such services in 
accordance with this Contract and any related Task Order(s).  

 
4.  Prepare final design, contract drawings, specifications and contract documents. Prepare 

for review and approval by Owner, his legal counsel and other advisors contract 
agreement forms, general conditions and supplementary conditions, and (where 
appropriate) bid forms, invitation to bid and instructions to bidders, and assist in the 
preparation of other related documents.  

 



3 
 

5.  Assist Owner in submitting appropriate documents to local, state and federal agencies 
for necessary approvals and permits.  

 
6.  Assistance to the Owner in obtaining bids, tabulations, and analysis of bid results, and 

furnishing recommendations in connection with the award of construction contracts.  
 
7.  Perform additional work as described and required by a Task Order.  

 
C.  Construction Phase:  
 

1.  Assistance in preparation of formal contract documents for the award of construction 
contract.  

 
2.  Consult with and advise the Owner on all technical matters and act as the Owner’s 

representative in dealing with a construction contractor on such matters. The Engineer 
shall issue all necessary interpretations and clarifications of the construction contract 
documents within a reasonable time. The Engineer shall issue any necessary Field 
Orders, and shall assist the Owner with the review of change orders proposed by a 
construction contractor and with development of change orders proposed by the 
Owner. Any matters of a technical nature which affect the integrity of the exterior 
architectural, structural, or fire safety systems, or which affect the integrity or 
operation of mechanical, plumbing or electrical systems shall be validated by the 
Engineer before any Field Order or Change Order is issued.  

 
3.  Make visits to the site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction to 

observe as experienced and qualified design professionals the progress and quality of 
the executed work of Contractor(s) and to determine in general if such work is 
proceeding in accordance with the contract documents. The Engineer may disapprove 
or reject construction of Contractor’s Work, or any portion thereof, while the Work is 
in progress, if the Engineer believes that such Work does not conform to the 
construction contract documents, or with approved shop drawings or other submittals. 
The Engineer may also recommend that the Owner reject any Work which it believes 
will not result in a completed Project that conforms generally to the construction 
contract documents or that it believes will prejudice the integrity of the design as 
reflected in such documents. The Engineer shall document such disapproved or 
rejected work in writing. The Engineer shall not be required to make exhaustive or 
continuous on-site observations to check the quality or quantity of such work. Engineer 
shall not be responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures 
of construction selected by Contractor(s) or the safety precautions and programs 
incidental to the work of Contractor(s). Engineer's efforts will be directed toward 
providing a greater degree of confidence for Owner that the completed work of 
Contractor(s) will conform to the contract documents, but Engineer shall not be 
responsible for the failure of Contractor(s) to perform the work in accordance with the 
contract documents. During such visits and on the basis of on-site observations, 
Engineer shall keep Owner informed of the progress of the work, shall endeavor to 
guard Owner against defects and deficiencies in such work and may disapprove or 
reject work failing to conform to the contract documents.  



4 
 

4.  Review and approve (or take other appropriate action in respect of) shop drawings and 
samples, the results of tests and inspections and other data which each Contractor is 
required to submit, but only for conformance with the design concept of the Project 
and compliance with the information given in the contract documents (but such review 
and approval or other action shall not extend to means, methods, sequences, 
techniques or procedures of construction or to safety precautions and programs 
incident thereto; determine the acceptability of substitute materials and equipment 
proposed by Contractor(s); and receive and review (for general content as required 
by specifications) maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, 
bonds and certificates of inspection which are to be assembled by Contractor(s) in 
accordance with the contract documents.  

 
5.  Review laboratory, shop and mill test reports and prepare a tabulation or summary of 

laboratory test results to assist in monitoring the quality of construction.  
 
6. Recommend to Owner change orders and/or supplemental agreements to the 

construction contract incidental to existing field conditions or improvements in the 
project design. Prepare estimates of cost or saving from proposed change order(s), 
prepare change order(s) along with basis for recommendation and negotiate on behalf 
of Owner with the Contractor to arrive, if possible, at an appropriate compensation 
resulting from the proposed revisions. The Engineer is not required by this provision 
to accomplish extensive design revisions and drawings resulting from a change in 
project scope or major changes in design concept previously accepted by the Owner 
where changes are due to causes beyond the Engineer's control. Engineer shall not 
authorize any deviation from the contract documents, or substitution of materials or 
equipment, without the consent of Owner.  

 
7.  Advise the Owner of needed special services and assist the Owner in acquisition of 

such services as appropriate.  
 
8.  Based upon Engineer's on-site observations as an experienced and qualified design 

professional and on review of applications for payment and the accompanying data 
and schedules, determine the amounts owing to Contractor(s) and recommend in 
writing payments to Contractor(s) in such amounts; such recommendations of 
payment will constitute a representation to Owner, based on such observation and 
review, that the work has progressed to the point indicated, that to the best of 
Engineer's knowledge, information and belief, the quality of such work is in accordance 
with the contract documents (subject to an evaluation of such work as a functioning 
project upon substantial completion, to the results of any subsequent tests called for 
in the contract documents, and to any qualifications stated in his recommendation), 
and that payment of the amount recommended is due Contractor(s); but by 
recommending any payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have represented 
that continuous or exhaustive examinations have been made by Engineer to check the 
quality or quantity of the work or to review the means, methods, sequences, 
techniques or procedures of construction or safety precautions or programs incident 
thereto or that Engineer has made an examination to ascertain how or for what 
purposes any Contractor has used the monies paid on account of the contract price, 



5 
 

or that title to any of the work, materials or equipment has passed to Owner free and 
clear of any lien, claims, security interests or encumbrances, or that Contractor(s) 
have completed their work exactly in accordance with the contract documents.  

 
9. Prepare Owner's applications for partial and final payments for submission to 

government agencies.  
 
10. Conduct an inspection to determine if the Project is substantially complete and a final 

inspection to determine if the work has reached final completion in accordance with 
the contract documents and if each Contractor has fulfilled all of his obligations 
thereunder so that Engineer may recommend, in writing, final payment to each 
Contractor and may give written notice to Owner and the Contractor(s) that the work 
is acceptable (subject to any conditions therein expressed), but such recommendation 
and notice shall be subject to the limitations expressed herein.  

 
11. Engineer will prepare for Owner, on request, a set of record drawing prints showing 

those changes made during the construction process, based upon the marked-up 
prints, drawings and other data furnished by Contractor(s) to Engineer and which 
Engineer considers significant.  

 
12. The Engineer shall not be responsible for the acts of omission of any construction 

Contractor, or subcontractor, or any of the construction Contractor(s) or 
subcontractor(s) agents or employees or any other persons (except Engineer's own 
employees and agents) at the site or otherwise performing any of the contractor(s)' 
work; however, nothing contained herein shall be construed to release the Engineer 
from liability for failure to perform properly duties undertaken by the Engineer under 
this Contract.  

 
SECTION II - SPECIAL SERVICES  
 
At written request of the Owner, the Engineer shall accomplish such special services as 
required by the Owner to complete the project. At the option of the Owner, special services 
may be provided by the Owner through subcontracts with other professionals or may be 
provided by the Engineer. When the Engineer is requested to provide special services, such 
services may be provided by Engineer's own forces or through subcontracts with other 
professionals. Compensation for Special Services provided by Engineer shall be in accordance 
with one of the methods identified in Section V – Compensation for Professional Services.  
 
Special services that may be requested include, but are not necessarily limited to the 
following:  
 
A. Land surveys as necessary to establish property boundaries required for property 

acquisition purposes or preparation of property maps.  
 
B. Soils and material investigations including test boring, laboratory testing of soils and 

materials, related analyses and recommendations.  
 



6 
 

C.  Engineering surveys (for design and construction) to include topographic surveys, base 
line surveys, cross section surveys, etc.  

 
D. Technical inspection of construction by full time Resident Project Representative, as 

required and approved by the Owner. When authorized by the Owner the duties, 
responsibilities and limitations of authority shall be described in Section IV.  

 
E.   Reproduction of additional copies of reports, contract documents and specifications above 

the specified number furnished in Basic Services.  
 
F.  Assistance to the Owner as expert witness in litigation arising from development or 

construction of the Project.  
  
G.  The accomplishment of special surveys and investigations, and the preparation of special 

reports and drawings as may be requested or authorized in writing by the Owner in 
connection with the Project.  

 
H.  Extra work created by design changes, after approval of plans and specifications by the 

Owner, FAA and GDOT, and beyond the control of the Engineer, that may be requested or 
authorized in writing by the Owner in connection with the Project.  

 
I.  Extra work required to revise or prepare contract documents, plans and specifications to 

facilitate the award of more than one construction contract, in the event the Owner adopts 
such construction program.  

 
J.  Services resulting from significant changes in extent of the Project or its design including, 

but not limited to, changes in size, complexity, Owner's schedule, or character of 
construction or method of financing; and revising previously accepted studies, reports, 
design documents or contract documents when such studies, reports, design documents 
or contract documents when such revisions are due to causes beyond Engineer's control.  

 
K.  Providing renderings or models for Owner's use.  
 
L.  Investigations involving detailed consideration of operations, maintenance and overhead 

expenses; providing value engineering during the course of design; the preparation of 
feasibility studies, cash flow and economic evaluations, rate schedules and appraisals; 
assistance in obtaining financing for Project; detailed quantity surveys of material, 
equipment and labor; and audits or inventories required in connection with construction 
performed by Owner.  

 
M.  Additional or extended services during construction made necessary by (1) work damaged 

by fire or other cause during construction, (2) a significant amount of defective or 
neglected work of Contractor(s), (3) prolongation of the contract time of any prime 
contract by more than thirty (30) days, (4) acceleration of the process schedule involving 
services beyond normal working hours, (5) default by Contractor(s), and (6) the actions 
of a resident project representative other than an employee of the Engineer.  

 



7 
 

N.  Preparation of operating and maintenance manuals; protracted or extensive assistance in 
the utilization of any equipment or system (such as initial start-up, testing, adjusting and 
balancing); and training personnel for operation and maintenance.  

 
O. Services after completion of the construction phase, such as inspections during any 

guarantee period and reporting observed discrepancies under guarantees called for in any 
contract for the Project.  

 
SECTION III - RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER  
 
A.  Make available for Engineer's use all record drawings, maps, soil data, etc.  
 
B. Respond in a timely manner to submissions by Engineer providing approvals and 

authorizations as appropriate so that work may continue at a normal pace.  
 
C. Pay all costs associated with special services authorized by the Owner, and all costs 

associated with obtaining bids from contractors.  
 
D. Furnish as required for performance of Engineer's basic services, data prepared by or 

services of others, including without limitation, core borings, probes and subsurface 
explorations, hydrographic surveys, laboratory tests and inspections of samples, materials 
and equipment; appropriate professional interpretations of all the foregoing; 
environmental assessment and impact statements; property, boundary, easement, right-
of-way, topographic and utility surveys, property descriptions; zoning, deed and other 
land use restrictions; and other special data or consultations not covered herein; all of 
which Engineer may rely upon in performing his services. For each Task Order, Owner 
shall provide the Engineer with a description of the Task or Project that is to be the subject 
of such Order, including information on functions, space requirements, special features 
and requirements, aesthetic requirements, authorized square footage, and “design-not-
to-exceed” construction budget.  

 
E.  Arrange for access to and make all provisions for Engineer to enter upon public and private 

property as required for Engineer to perform his services.  
 
F.  Examine all studies, reports, sketches, drawings, specifications, proposals and other 

documents presented by Engineer, obtain advice of an attorney, insurance counselor and 
other consultants as Owner deems appropriate for such examination and render decisions 
pertaining thereto within a reasonable time so as not to delay the services of Engineer.  

 
G.  Furnish approvals and permits from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over 

the Project and such approvals and consent from others as may be necessary for 
completion of the Project.  

 
H.  Provide such accounting, independent cost estimating and insurance counseling services 

as may be required for the Project, such legal services as Owner may require or Engineer 
may reasonably request with regard to legal issues pertaining to the Project including any 
that may be raised by Contractor(s), such auditing services as Owner may require to 



8 
 

ascertain how or for what purpose any Contractor has used the monies paid to him under 
the construction contract, and such inspection services as Owner may require to ascertain 
that Contractor(s) are complying with any law, rule or regulation applicable to their 
performance of the work.  

 
I.   Give prompt written notice to Engineer whenever Owner observes or otherwise becomes 

aware of any development that affects the scope of timing of the Engineer's services, or 
any defect in the work of Contractor(s).  

 
J.  Generally, the Owner will observe the procedure of issuing orders and decisions to a 

construction Contractor through the Engineer or through a third-party project 
representative designated by the Owner, if applicable. If the Owner issues orders directly 
to a construction Contractor, the Engineer shall be copied on such order.  

 
K. The Owner shall be responsible for all damages incurred or suffered by the Engineer 

resulting from negligent acts, errors or omissions attributable to the Owner or anyone for 
whom the Owner is legally responsible. Damages that the Engineer may incur include, but 
are not limited to: Engineer’s own costs of labor of its employees, and other in-house 
costs of Engineer; Contractor change order costs, including removal, repair, replacement 
or modification of work performed by a Contractor; any Contractor or Engineer delay 
damages, and cumulative impact claims/lost productivity damages; and judgments, fines 
or penalties against the Engineer. The Owner agrees to indemnify and hold the Engineer 
harmless from and against all such damages only to the extent permissible under Georgia 
law. 

 
SECTION IV - RESIDENT PROJECT REPRESENTATIVE  
 
With agreement of the Owner as part of a Task Order, Engineer may furnish a Resident Project 
Representative, assistants and other field staff to assist Engineer in observing performance 
of the work of the Contractor.  
 
Through more extensive on-site observations of the work in progress and field checks of 
materials and equipment by a Resident Project Representative and assistants, Engineer shall 
endeavor to provide further protection for Owner against defects and deficiencies in the work; 
but, the furnishing of such services will not make Engineer responsible for or give Engineer 
control over construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures or for safety 
precautions or programs, or responsibility for Contractor's failure to perform the work in 
accordance with the contract documents.  
 
The duties and responsibilities of the Resident Project Representative are limited to those of 
Engineer in Engineer's written Task Order with the Owner and in the construction contract 
documents, and are further limited and described as follows:  
 
A.  General:  Resident Project Representative is Engineer's agent at the site, will act as 

directed by and under the supervision of Engineer, and will confer with Engineer regarding 
his actions. Resident Project Representative's involvement in matters pertaining to the 
on-site work shall in general be with the Engineer and Contractor, keeping Owner advised 



9 
 

as necessary. Resident Project Representative's contact with subcontractors shall only be 
through or with the full knowledge and approval of Contractor. Resident Project 
Representative shall generally communicate with Owner with the knowledge of and under 
the direction of Engineer.  

 
B.  Duties and Responsibilities of Resident Project Representative:  

 
1.  Schedules:  Review the progress schedule, schedule of shop drawing submittals and 

schedule of values prepared by Contractor and consult with Engineer concerning 
acceptability.  

 
2.  Conferences and Meetings: Attend meetings with Contractor, such as pre-construction 

conferences, progress meetings, job conferences and other Project related meetings, 
and prepare and circulate copies of minutes thereof.  

 
3.  Liaison:  

a.  Serve as Engineer's liaison with Contractor, working principally through Contractor's 
superintendent and assist in understanding the intent of the contract documents; 
and assist Engineer in serving as Owner's liaison with Contractor when Contractor's 
operations affect Owner's on-site operations.  

b.  Assist in obtaining from Owner additional details or information, when required for 
proper execution of the work, according to the contract documents.  

 
4.  Shop Drawings and Samples:  

a.  Record date of receipt of shop drawings and samples.  
b.  Receive samples that are furnished at the site by Contractor, and notify Engineer 

of availability of samples for examination.  
c.  Advise Engineer and Contractor of the commencement of any work requiring a shop 

drawing or sample if the submittal has not been accepted by the Engineer.  
 
5.  Review of Work, Rejection of Defective Work, Inspections and Tests:  

a. Conduct on-site observations of the work in progress to assist Engineer in 
determining if the work is, in general, proceeding in accordance with the contract 
documents.  

b. Report to Engineer whenever Resident Project Representative believes that any 
work is unsatisfactory, faulty or defective or does not conform to the contract 
documents, or has been damaged, or does not meet the requirements of any 
inspections, test or approval required to be made; and advise Engineer of work 
that Resident Project Representative believes should be corrected or rejected or 
should be uncovered for observation, or requires special testing, inspection or 
approval.  

c.  Verify that tests, equipment and systems startup, and operating and maintenance 
training are conducted in the presence of appropriate personnel, and that 
Contractor maintains adequate records thereof; and observe, record and report to 
Engineer appropriate details relative to tests, procedures, and startups.  



10 
 

d. Accompany visiting inspectors representing public or other agencies having 
jurisdiction over the Project, record the results of the inspections and report to 
Engineer.  

6.  Interpretation of Contract Documents:  Report to Engineer when clarifications and 
interpretations of the contract documents are needed and transmit to Contractor 
clarifications and interpretations as issued by Engineer.  

 
7. Modifications: Consider and evaluate Contractor's suggestions for modifications in 

drawings or specifications and report with Resident Project Representative's 
recommendations to Engineer. Transmit to Contractor decisions as issued by Engineer  

 
8.  Records:  

a.  Maintain at the job site orderly files for correspondence, reports of job conferences, 
shop drawings and samples, reproductions of original contract documents including 
all work directive changes, addenda, change orders, field orders, additional 
drawings issued subsequent to the execution of the Contract, Engineer's 
clarifications and interpretations of the contract documents, progress reports, and 
other Project-related documents.  

b. Keep a diary or log book, recording Contractor hours on the job site, weather 
conditions, data relative to questions of work directive changes, change orders or 
changed conditions, list of job site visitors, daily activities, decisions, observations 
in general, and specific observations in more detail as in the case of observing test 
procedures; and send copies to Engineer.  

c.   Record names, addresses and telephone numbers of all Contractors, subcontractors 
and major suppliers of material and equipment.  

 
9.  Reports:  

a. Furnish Engineer periodic reports as required of progress of the work and of 
Contractor's compliance with the progress schedule and schedule of shop drawings 
and sample submittals.  

b.  Consult with Engineer in advance of scheduled major tests, inspections or start of 
important phases of the work.  

c. Draft proposed change orders and work directive changes, obtaining backup 
material from Contractor and recommend to Engineer change orders, work 
directive changes, and field orders.  

d.  Report immediately to Engineer and Owner upon the occurrence of any accident.  
 
10. Payment Requests:  Review applications for payment with Contractor for compliance 

with the established procedure for their submission and forward with recommendations 
to Engineer, noting particularly the relationship of the payment requested to the 
schedule of values, work completed and materials and equipment delivered at the site 
but not incorporated in the work.  

 
11. Certificates, Maintenance and Operations Manuals: During the course of the work, 

verify that certificates, maintenance and operation manuals and other data required 
to be assembled and furnished by Contractor are applicable to the items actually 
installed and in accordance with the contract documents, and have this material 



11 
 

delivered to Engineer for review and forwarding to Owner prior to final payment for 
work.  

 
12. Completion:  

a.  Before Engineer issues a Certificate of Substantial Completion, submit to Contractor 
a list of observed items requiring completion or correction.  

b. Conduct on-site review in the company of Engineer, Owner and Contractor and 
prepare a final list of items to be completed or corrected.  

c.  Observe that all items on final list have been completed or corrected and make 
recommendations to Engineer concerning acceptance.  

 
C.  Limitations of Authority of the Resident Project Representative:  

 
1. Shall not authorize any deviation from the contract documents or substitution of 

materials or equipment.  
2. Shall not exceed limitations of Engineer's authority as set forth in the contract 

documents.  
3. Shall not undertake any of the responsibilities of Contractor, subcontractors or 

Contractor's superintendent.  
4.  Shall not advise on, issue directions relative to or assume control over any aspect of 

the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of construction unless such 
advice or directions are specifically required by the contract documents.  

5. Shall not advise on, issue directions regarding or assume control over safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the work.  

6.  Shall not accept shop drawing or sample submittals from anyone other than Contractor.  
7.  Shall not authorize Owner to occupy the Project in whole or in part.  
8.  Shall not participate in specialized field or laboratory tests or inspections conducted by 

others except as specifically authorized by Engineer.  
 
SECTION V – COMPENSATION FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  
 

The Owner agrees to compensate the Engineer for services performed in accordance with 
one of the following methods as hereinafter set forth. The method of payment and the 
amount for specified services shall be detailed in a Task Order, which shall be prepared 
by the Engineer and submitted to the Owner for review and approval. The receipt of an 
approved Task Order from Owner will constitute the Engineer's Notice-to-Proceed, unless 
a separate Notice-to-Proceed is contemplated by the Task Order.  

 
The Engineer is not to undertake any work prior to the receipt of an approved Task Order 
executed and approved by the Owner.  

 
A.  Methods of Compensation:  One or more of the following methods of compensation shall 

be used to establish the compensation to be received by the Engineer for Services 
rendered under a Task Order. Each Task Order shall identify the specific method of 
compensation. For either method, the fair and reasonable prices negotiated between the 
Owner and the Engineer shall be used in determining the cost of each task or project 
performed.  



12 
 

 
1.  Fixed Fee (Lump Sum) Method:   For work that can be defined and delineated in 

advance, payment to the Engineer will be made on the basis of a fixed fee. The agreed 
fee shall represent full payment for all payroll, overhead, profit, and other direct non-
salary expenses. The fixed fee will neither increase nor decrease unless the parties 
agree to a change in the scope, complexity, or duration of the work.  

 
2.  Hourly Method:  Under this method of payment, the Engineer's compensation will be 

equal to the hours expended on a Project times the standard hourly rates provided to 
the Owner.  

 
B.  Engineer’s Obligations and Requirements:  

 
1.  Time charged to the Project by Engineer personnel will include the time that the 

applicable employees are engaged in actual work on the Project at the Engineer’s 
office, at the site of the Project, or travel status in connection with the Project.  

 
2.   Only the personnel needed and required to accomplish the services in keeping with 

the prescribed schedule shall be assigned to the Project.  
 
3.  Engineer may assign personnel classifications to the project that differ from those 

originally anticipated and outlined in the Task Order, after written notice to Owner, but 
only if such changes do not affect the budget or any agreed terms of a Task Order. 

 
4.  Charges will not be made to the Project during periods of sickness, vacation or at any 

other times when personnel assigned are not gainfully employed on the work.  
 
5.  In addition to any hourly-fee payment, the Engineer shall be entitled to receive 

payment for reimbursable expenses directly incurred in connection with the Project, 
including, without limitation: reasonable travel costs; copying, printing, etc. 
documents; necessary consulting expenses, reimbursable at 1.10 times the direct cost 
incurred by the Engineer therefor.  

 
6.  Requests for payment shall be set forth within properly documented invoices or other 

billing statements of a format acceptable to Owner (either, an “invoice”). The Engineer 
shall remit invoice(s) to Owner for payment. Each invoice shall seek payment only for 
services actually performed, and for reimbursable expenses actually incurred, as of 
the date of submission of the invoice. Documentation of reimbursable expenses 
claimed shall be attached to the invoice. Each invoice must be supported by 
documentation acceptable to the Owner, in its discretion, establishing that the services 
referenced within the invoice have been performed in accordance with the parties’ 
agreement. Engineer shall promptly comply with a request from Owner for 
documentation deemed necessary by the Owner for approval of an invoice.  

 
7.  Each invoice shall bear the signature of an individual authorized to bind the Engineer 

and speak on its behalf. The signature of the Engineer’s authorized representative shall 
constitute the Engineer’s representation to Owner that the services indicated in the 



13 
 

invoice have reached the level stated, have been properly and timely performed in 
accordance with the parties’ Contract, and the amount(s) requested for payment are 
currently due and owing, there being no reason(s) known to the Engineer why payment 
of any portion thereof should be withheld.  

 
8.  In the event any invoice contains a defect or impropriety that would prevent payment 

by the required payment date, the Owner shall notify the Engineer’s authorized 
representative in writing of such defect or impropriety. In the event Owner becomes 
credibly informed that any representations of the Engineer as set forth in the preceding 
paragraph are wholly or partially inaccurate, the Owner may withhold payment of sums 
then, or in the future, owing to the Engineer until the inaccuracy and the cause thereof, 
is corrected to the Owner’s satisfaction. All prior payments may be corrected and 
adjusted by the Owner within any payment to the Engineer, and if not previously 
corrected shall be corrected and adjusted in the final payment to the Engineer.  

 
C.  Required Payment Date:   Invoices shall be due and payable within 30 days after the date 

of invoice, subject to any limitations or conditions precedent as may be set forth within 
the parties’ Contract or any applicable Task Order. A service charge of one percent (1.0%) 
per month shall be assessed for those invoiced amounts not paid, through no fault of the 
Engineer, within 30 days after the Owner's receipt of the Engineer's invoice.  Upon receipt 
of payment from Owner of any invoice, the Engineer shall remit payment to each and 
every subcontractor who performed any work or services that were the subject of such 
invoice, within the time periods required by Georgia statute. The Engineer shall include in 
each of its subcontracts a provision requiring each subcontractor to include or otherwise 
be subject to the same payment requirements, with respect to each lower-tier 
subcontractor.  

 
SECTION VI - MISCELLANEOUS  
 
A. Estimates:  Since the Engineer has no control over the cost of labor and materials or over 

competitive bidding market conditions, the estimates of construction cost provided for 
herein are to be made on the basis of experience and qualifications, but the Engineer does 
not guarantee the accuracy of such estimates as compared to the Contractor's bids of the 
Project construction cost.  

 
B. Extra Services:  It is mutually understood and agreed that the Owner will compensate the 

Engineer for services resulting from significant changes in general scope of a Task or 
Project, including but not necessarily limited to, changes in size, complexity, construction 
schedule, character of construction, revisions to previously accepted studies, reports, 
design documents or contract documents and for preparation of documents for separate 
bids, (individually and collectively, “Extra Services”) when such Extra Services are due to 
causes beyond the Engineer's control and when requested or authorized by the Owner. 
Extra work may also include special services as identified in Section II - Special Services. 
Compensation for Extra Services shall be in accordance with a Task Order signed by both 
parties, calculated using one of the methods identified in Section V.  
 



14 
 

During the development of a Project the Engineer may expect clarifications and 
refinements within the general scope of the Project and shall make necessary adjustments 
accordingly. Approved preliminary design based on incorporation of review comments and 
accepted value engineering (VE) recommendations establish the requirements for 
development of working drawings and final design of a Project. Incorporating VE 
recommendations justified on payback and changes in functional layout to achieve greater 
efficiency or cost savings shall be deemed within the scope of the parties’ Contract, and 
shall not be considered “Special”, “Extra” or “Additional” Services. Likewise, any changes 
or modifications required to conform to applicable code requirements shall be deemed 
within the scope of the parties’ Contract.  

 
C. Reuse of Documents:  All original documents, such as tracings, plans (CADD files), 

specifications, maps, basic survey notes and sketches, charts, computations, and other 
data prepared or obtained under the terms of the contract, are instruments of service in 
respect of a Task or Project and remain the property of the Engineer. They are not 
intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by Owner or others on extensions of the 
Project or on any other Project. Terms and conditions for the Owner’s reuse of 
documents/data on other projects require the express written approval of the Engineer. 
The Engineer shall retain its exclusive rights in its standard drawing details, designs, 
specifications, CADD files, databases, computer software, and any other proprietary 
property.  Any reuse without written verification or adaptation by Engineer for the specific 
purposes intended will be at Owner's sole risk and without liability or legal exposure to 
Engineer; and Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from all claims, 
damages, losses and expenses including attorney's fees arising out of or resulting 
therefrom. Any such verification or adaptation will entitle Engineer to further 
compensation at rates to be agreed upon by Owner and Engineer. Notwithstanding these 
provisions the Owner shall be provided upon request a reproducible copy of any drawing 
produced under this Contract at the cost of reproduction. Any indemnification provided for 
in this subsection shall only extend to the limit imposed by Georgia law. 

 
D. Responsibilities of the Engineer:  

 
1. The Engineer shall be responsible for the professional quality, technical accuracy, timely 

completion, and the coordination of all designs, drawings, specifications, reports, and 
other services furnished by the Engineer under this Contract. The Engineer’s services 
shall be rendered in accordance with generally accepted practices (architectural or 
engineering, as may be applicable) as indicated by the intended purpose of a particular 
Task or Project. All final documents (100% construction documents) for Owner’s 
construction projects shall bear the seal(s) and signature(s) of the licensed 
professional(s) who prepared them.  

 
2.  Approval by the Owner, FAA or GDOT of drawings, designs, specifications, reports and 

incidental work or materials furnished hereunder shall not in any way relieve the 
Engineer of its obligations under the preceding paragraph.  

 
3.  Engineer shall maintain all required records for three years after the Owner makes 

final payment and all other pending matters are closed.  



15 
 

 
4.  The Engineer shall be responsible for all damages incurred or suffered by the Owner 

resulting from (a) errors or omissions in any design or construction documents 
attributable to the Engineer or its subcontractor(s); (b) negligent performance of 
professional services by the Engineer or its subcontractor(s); or (c) other breach of 
any applicable standard of care established under the laws of the State of Georgia, by 
Engineer or its subcontractor(s). Damages that the Owner may incur include, but are 
not limited to: Owner’s own costs of labor of its employees, and other in-house costs 
of Owner; Contractor change order costs, including removal, repair, replacement or 
modification of work performed by a Contractor in accordance with design or 
construction documents provided by Engineer; any Contractor or Owner delay 
damages, and cumulative impact claims/lost productivity damages; and judgments, 
fines or penalties against the Owner. The Engineer agrees to indemnify and hold the 
Owner harmless from and against all such damages.  

 
5.  If the Engineer has reason to believe that the use of a required design, process or 

product would constitute an infringement of a patent or other intellectual property 
right, the Engineer shall promptly provide such information to Owner. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, the Engineer shall indemnify and hold Owner harmless from 
and against any and all liability, loss, claims, demands, suits, costs, fees and expenses 
(including reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys, expert witnesses and other 
consultants) for infringement of patents, copyrights or other intellectual property 
rights, except with respect to designs, process or products of a particular manufacturer 
expressly required by the Owner in writing, and (ii) infringements about which the 
Engineer timely notified Owner and which occurred through no fault of the Engineer.  

 
6.  The Engineer shall be the professional advisor and consultant to the Owner for technical 

matters related to a Task or Project and shall be responsible to and only to the Owner. 
The Engineer shall advise the Owner of approvals and changes necessary to keep a 
Task or Project within the scope of a particular contract and within cost limits. The 
Owner shall make the final decision on all approvals, rejections, change requirements 
and other similar decisions to the Engineer.  

 
E.  Termination of Contract  
 

1. Termination for Convenience  
 
The Owner may, by written notice to the Engineer, terminate this Agreement, or any 
Task Order, for its convenience and without cause or default on the part of Engineer. 
Upon receipt of the notice of termination, except as explicitly directed by the Owner, 
the Engineer must immediately discontinue all services affected. 
 
Owner agrees to make just and equitable compensation to the Engineer for satisfactory 
work completed up through the date the Engineer receives the termination notice.  
Compensation will not include anticipated profit on non-performed services. 
 



16 
 

Owner further agrees to hold Engineer harmless for errors or omissions in documents 
that are incomplete as a result of the termination action under this clause.  
 
2. Termination for Default  

 
Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause if the other party fails to fulfill its 
obligations that are essential to the completion of the work per the terms and 
conditions of the Agreement. The party initiating the termination action must allow the 
breaching party an opportunity to dispute or cure the breach.  
 
The terminating party must provide the breaching party 10 days advance written 
notice of its intent to terminate the Agreement. The notice must specify the nature and 
extent of the breach, the conditions necessary to cure the breach, and the effective 
date of the termination action.  The rights and remedies in this clause are in addition to 
any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this agreement. 
 

a. Termination by Owner: The Owner may terminate this Agreement in whole or 
in part, for the failure of the Engineer to: 
1. Perform the services within the time specified in this contract or by Owner 

approved extension; 
2. Make adequate progress so as to endanger satisfactory performance of the 

Project; or 
3. Fulfill the obligations of the Agreement that are essential to the completion 

of the Project. 
 

Upon receipt of the notice of termination, the Engineer must immediately discontinue all 
services affected unless the notice directs otherwise.  
 
Owner agrees to make just and equitable compensation to the Engineer for satisfactory 
work completed up through the date the Engineer receives the termination notice.  
Compensation will not include anticipated profit on non-performed services. 
 
Owner further agrees to hold Engineer harmless for errors or omissions in documents 
that are incomplete as a result of the termination action under this clause. 
 
If, after finalization of the termination action, the Owner determines the Engineer was 
not in default of the Agreement, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the 
same as if the Owner issued the termination for the convenience of the Owner. 

 
b. Termination by Engineer: The Engineer may terminate this Agreement in whole 

or in part, if the Owner: 
1. Defaults on its obligations under this Agreement; 
2. Fails to make payment to the Engineer in accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement; 
3. Suspends the Project for more than 180 days due to reasons beyond the 

control of the Engineer. 
 



17 
 

Upon receipt of a notice of termination from the Engineer, Owner agrees to cooperate 
with Engineer for the purpose of terminating the agreement or portion thereof, by 
mutual consent.  If Owner and Engineer cannot reach mutual agreement on the 
termination settlement, the Engineer may, without prejudice to any rights and 
remedies it may have, proceed with terminating all or parts of this Agreement based 
upon the Owner’s breach of the contract. 

 
In the event of termination due to Owner breach, the Engineer is entitled to invoice 
Owner and to receive full payment for all services performed or furnished in 
accordance with this Agreement and all justified reimbursable expenses incurred by the 
Engineer through the effective date of termination action. Owner agrees to hold 
Engineer harmless for errors or omissions in documents that are incomplete as a result 
of the termination action under this clause. 
 

F.  Contractual disputes; remedies:  Except as may be otherwise provided in this Contract, 
any dispute arising out of or related to this Contract will be submitted for non-binding 
mediation; however, should the dispute not be resolved through agreement of the parties or 
non-binding mediation, the dispute will be decided in a court of law within the County in which 
the Owner is located.  

 
G.  Period of Service: The services shall be completed in accordance with the schedule 
provided with each task order, and made a part of this Agreement.  The Engineer and the 
Owner will be required to meet this schedule. 
 
H.  Successors and Assigns:  The Owner and the Engineer agree that this Agreement and all 
agreements entered into under the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon the 
parties hereto and their successors and assigns. 
 
 I.  Law of Georgia to Govern:  This Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of 
the State of Georgia.  The Engineer shall comply with all local, state, and federal laws and 
regulations which govern the performance of this Agreement. 
 
 J.  Sole Beneficiary:  This Agreement is made for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and 
nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to give any rights or benefits to anyone other 
than the Owner and the Engineer. 
  
 K.  Severability and Survival: 
 

1. Any provision or part of this Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any 
law or regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue 
to be valid and binding upon the Owner and the Engineer. 
 

2. All express representations, indemnifications, or limitations of liability made or given 
in this Agreement will survive the completion of all services by the Engineer under this 
Agreement or the termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

 
SECTION VII - REQUIRED FEDERAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS  



18 
 

Under Section VII – Required Federal Contract Provisions, references to “contractor” or 
“consultant” shall mean the “Engineer”, and references to “sponsor” shall mean the “Owner”. 

 
A. PROVISIONS FOR ALL WORK AUTHORIZATIONS REGARDLESS OF FUNDING SOURCE  

1. General Civil Rights Provisions: The Engineer agrees to comply with pertinent 
statutes, Executive Orders and such rules as are promulgated to ensure that no 
person shall, on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, or 
disability be excluded from participating in any activity conducted with or benefiting 
from Federal assistance.  
 
This provision binds the Contractor and subcontractors from the bid solicitation 
period through the completion of the contract. This provision is in addition to that 
required by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 
 

2. Title VI Solicitation Notice:  The Owner, in accordance with the provisions of Title VI 
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 USC §§ 2000d to 2000d-4) and the 
Regulations, hereby notifies all bidders or offerors that it will affirmatively ensure 
that any contract entered into pursuant to this advertisement, [select disadvantaged 
business enterprises or airport concession disadvantaged business enterprises] will 
be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and 
will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in 
consideration for an award. 
 

3. Compliance with Nondiscrimination Requirements:  During the performance of this 
contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor”), agrees as follows: 
 

1. Compliance with Regulations:  The Contractor (hereinafter includes consultants) 
will comply with the Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts and 
Authorities, as they may be amended from time to time, which are herein 
incorporated by reference and made a part of this contract. 

2. Nondiscrimination:  The Contractor, with regard to the work performed by it 
during the contract, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or 
national origin in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including 
procurements of materials and leases of equipment.  The Contractor will not 
participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the 
Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities, including employment practices when the 
contract covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 
CFR part 21.  

3. Solicitations for Subcontracts, including Procurements of Materials and 
Equipment:  In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding or negotiation made 
by the Contractor for work to be performed under a subcontract, including 
procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each potential subcontractor 
or supplier will be notified by the Contractor of the contractor’s obligations under 
this contract and the Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities on the grounds of 
race, color, or national origin.   



19 
 

4. Information and Reports:  The Contractor will provide all information and reports 
required by the Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto and 
will permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, 
and its facilities as may be determined by the sponsor or the Federal Aviation 
Administration to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such 
Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities and instructions.  Where any information 
required of a contractor is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or 
refuses to furnish the information, the Contractor will so certify to the sponsor or 
the Federal Aviation Administration, as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts 
it has made to obtain the information. 

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance:  In the event of a Contractor’s noncompliance with 
the non-discrimination provisions of this contract, the sponsor will impose such 
contract sanctions as it or the Federal Aviation Administration may determine to 
be appropriate, including, but not limited to: 
i. Withholding payments to the Contractor under the contract until the 

Contractor complies; and/or 
ii. Cancelling, terminating, or suspending a contract, in whole or in part. 

6. Incorporation of Provisions:  The Contractor will include the provisions of 
paragraphs one through six in every subcontract, including procurements of 
materials and leases of equipment, unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations, 
and directives issued pursuant thereto.  The Contractor will take action with 
respect to any subcontract or procurement as the sponsor or the Federal Aviation 
Administration may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including 
sanctions for noncompliance.  Provided, that if the Contractor becomes involved 
in, or is threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such 
direction, the Contractor may request the sponsor to enter into any litigation to 
protect the interests of the sponsor.  In addition, the Contractor may request the 
United States to enter into the litigation to protect the interests of the United 
States. 

 
4. Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities:  During the 

performance of this contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and 
successors in interest (hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor”) agrees to comply 
with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities; including but not 
limited to: 

 
 Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252) 

(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin);  
 49 CFR part 21 (Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the 

Department of Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964);  

 The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 
1970, (42 USC § 4601) (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose 
property has been acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and 
projects);  

 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC § 794 et seq.), as 
amended (prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR part 27; 



20 
 

 The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 USC § 6101 et seq.) 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of age); 

 Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982 (49 USC § 471, Section 47123), as 
amended (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or 
sex);  

 The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 (PL 100-209) (broadened the scope, 
coverage and applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age 
Discrimination Act of 1975 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by 
expanding the definition of the terms “programs or activities” to include all of the 
programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, sub-recipients and 
contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or not); 

 Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which prohibit 
discrimination on the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public 
and private transportation systems, places of public accommodation, and certain 
testing entities (42 USC §§ 12131 – 12189) as implemented by U.S. Department 
of Transportation regulations at 49 CFR parts 37 and 38; 

 The Federal Aviation Administration’s Nondiscrimination statute (49 USC § 
47123) (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and 
sex); 

 Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in 
Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures 
nondiscrimination against minority populations by discouraging programs, 
policies, and activities with disproportionately high and adverse human health or 
environmental effects on minority and low-income populations; 

 Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited 
English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination 
includes discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP).  To ensure 
compliance with Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP 
persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 
74100); 

 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you 
from discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 USC 
1681 et seq). 

 
5. Clean Air and Water Pollution Control:  Contractor agrees to comply with all 

applicable standards, orders, and regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act 
(42 USC § 740-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended 
(33 USC § 1251-1387). The Contractor agrees to report any violation to the Owner 
immediately upon discovery. The Owner assumes responsibility for notifying the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the Federal Aviation Administration.  
 
Contractor must include this requirement in all subcontracts that exceeds 
$150,000. 
 

6. Equal Opportunity Clause:  During the performance of this contract, the Contractor 
agrees as follows: 
 



21 
 

1.  The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 
employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The 
Contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, 
and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their 
race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identify, or national origin. 
Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, 
upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff, 
or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for 
training, including apprenticeship. The Contractor agrees to post in conspicuous 
places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be 
provided setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

2.  The Contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed 
by or on behalf of the Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive 
considerations for employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or 
national origin. 

3.  The Contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with 
which it has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract or 
understanding, a notice to be provided advising the said labor union or workers’ 
representatives of the Contractor’s commitments under this section and shall 
post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and 
applicants for employment. 

4.  The Contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, and of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the 
Secretary of Labor. 

5.  The Contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive 
Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of 
the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, and will permit access to his books, 
records, and accounts by the administering agency and the Secretary of Labor 
for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, 
regulations, and orders. 

6.  In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses 
of this contract or with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract 
may be canceled, terminated, or suspended in whole or in part and the 
Contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government contracts or 
federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with procedures 
authorized in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other 
sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as provided in Executive Order 
11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of the Secretary of 
Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

7. The Contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding 
paragraph (1) and the provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every 
subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of 
the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 
of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
subcontractor or vendor. The Contractor will take such action with respect to any 
subcontract or purchase order as the administering agency may direct as a 
means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance: 



22 
 

Provided, however, that in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or is 
threatened with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such 
direction by the administering agency the Contractor may request the United 
States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

 
7. Federal Fair Labor Standards Act:  All contracts and subcontracts that result from 

this solicitation incorporate by reference the provisions of 29 CFR part 201, the 
Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), with the same force and effect as if given 
in full text.  The FLSA sets minimum wage, overtime pay, recordkeeping, and child 
labor standards for full and part-time workers. 
 
The Consultant has full responsibility to monitor compliance to the referenced 
statute or regulation.  The Consultant must address any claims or disputes that 
arise from this requirement directly with the U.S. Department of Labor – Wage and 
Hour Division. 
 

8. Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970:  All contracts and subcontracts that 
result from this solicitation incorporate by reference the requirements of 
29 CFR Part 1910 with the same force and effect as if given in full text.  The 
employer must provide a work environment that is free from recognized hazards 
that may cause death or serious physical harm to the employee. The employer 
retains full responsibility to monitor its compliance and their subcontractor’s 
compliance with the applicable requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act of 1970 (20 CFR Part 1910).  The employer must address any claims or 
disputes that pertain to a referenced requirement directly with the U.S. Department 
of Labor – Occupational Safety and Health Administration.  
 

9. Rights to Inventions:  Contracts or agreements that include the performance of 
experimental, developmental, or research work must provide for the rights of the 
Federal Government and the Owner in any resulting invention as established by 37 
CFR part 401, Rights to Inventions Made by Non-profit Organizations and Small 
Business Firms under Government Grants, Contracts, and Cooperative Agreements.  
This contract incorporates by reference the patent and inventions rights as specified 
within 37 CFR §401.14.  Contractor must include this requirement in all sub-tier 
contracts involving experimental, developmental, or research work. 

  



23 
 

B. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS FOR ALL AIP FUNDED A/E WORK AUTHORIZATIONS  
 
1. Access to Records and Reports:  The Contractor must maintain an acceptable cost 

accounting system. The Contractor agrees to provide the Owner, the Federal 
Aviation Administration and the Comptroller General of the United States or any of 
their duly authorized representatives access to any books, documents, papers and 
records of the Contractor which are directly pertinent to the specific contract for the 
purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts and transcriptions. The Contractor 
agrees to maintain all books, records and reports required under this contract for a 
period of not less than three years after final payment is made and all pending 
matters are closed. 
 

2. Breach of Contract Terms: Any violation or breach of terms of this contract on the 
part of the Consultant or its subcontractors may result in the suspension or 
termination of this contract or such other action that may be necessary to enforce 
the rights of the parties of this agreement.  
 
Owner will provide Consultant written notice that describes the nature of the breach 
and corrective actions the Consultant must undertake in order to avoid termination 
of the contract.  Owner reserves the right to withhold payments to Contractor until 
such time the Contractor corrects the breach or the Owner elects to terminate the 
contract. The Owner’s notice will identify a specific date by which the Consultant 
must correct the breach.  Owner may proceed with termination of the contract if 
the Consultant fails to correct the breach by the deadline indicated in the Owner’s 
notice. 
 
The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the rights and 
remedies available thereunder are in addition to, and not a limitation of, any duties, 
obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. 
 

3. Certifications of Lower Tier Contractors Regarding Debarment:  The successful 
bidder, by administering each lower tier subcontract that exceeds $25,000 as a 
“covered transaction”, must verify each lower tier participant of a “covered 
transaction” under the project is not presently debarred or otherwise disqualified 
from participation in this federally assisted project.  The successful bidder will 
accomplish this by: 

1. Checking the System for Award Management at website:  http://www.sam.gov. 
2. Collecting a certification statement similar to the Certification of Offerer /Bidder 

Regarding Debarment, above. 
3. Inserting a clause or condition in the covered transaction with the lower tier 

contract. 
 

If the Federal Aviation Administration later determines that a lower tier participant 
failed to disclose to a higher tier participant that it was excluded or disqualified at 
the time it entered the covered transaction, the FAA may pursue any available 
remedies, including suspension and debarment of the non-compliant participant.  

 



24 
 

4. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises:  Contract Assurance (§ 26.13) – The 
Contractor or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The Contractor shall 
carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR part 26 in the award and 
administration of Department of Transportation-assisted contracts. Failure by the 
Contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, 
which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the 
Owner deems appropriate, which may include, but is not limited to: 

1. Withholding monthly progress payments; 
2. Assessing sanctions; 
3. Liquidated damages; and/or 
4. Disqualifying the Contractor from future bidding as non-responsible. 

 
Prompt Payment (§26.29) – The prime contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor 
under this prime contract for satisfactory performance of its contract no later than 
14 days from the receipt of each payment the prime contractor receives from the 
Owner. The prime contractor agrees further to return retainage payments to each 
subcontractor within 14 days after the subcontractor’s work is satisfactorily 
completed. Any delay or postponement of payment from the above referenced time 
frame may occur only for good cause following written approval of the Owner. This 
clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontractors. 

 
5. Texting When Driving:  In accordance with Executive Order 13513, “Federal 

Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging While Driving”, (10/1/2009) and DOT 
Order 3902.10, “Text Messaging While Driving”, (12/30/2009), the Federal Aviation 
Administration encourages recipients of Federal grant funds to adopt and enforce 
safety policies that decrease crashes by distracted drivers, including policies to ban 
text messaging while driving when performing work related to a grant or subgrant.  
 
In support of this initiative, the Owner encourages the Contractor to promote 
policies and initiatives for its employees and other work personnel that decrease 
crashes by distracted drivers, including policies that ban text messaging while 
driving motor vehicles while performing work activities associated with the project.  
The Contractor must include the substance of this clause in all sub-tier contracts 
exceeding $3,500 that involve driving a motor vehicle in performance of work 
activities associated with the project. 
 

6. Energy Conservation Requirements:  Contractor and Subcontractor agree to comply 
with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency as contained in 
the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and 
Conservation Act (42 USC 6201et seq). 

 
7. Trade Restriction Certification:  By submission of an offer, the Offeror certifies that 

with respect to this solicitation and any resultant contract, the Offeror – 
1. is not owned or controlled by one or more citizens of a foreign country included 

in the list of countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by the 
Office of the United States Trade Representative (USTR); 



25 
 

2. has not knowingly entered into any contract or subcontract for this project with 
a person that is a citizen or national of a foreign country included on the list of 
countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by the USTR; and  

3. has not entered into any subcontract for any product to be used on the Federal 
project that is produced in a foreign country included on the list of countries 
that discriminate against U.S. firms published by the USTR. 

 
This certification concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of an agency of the 
United States of America and the making of a false, fictitious, or fraudulent 
certification may render the maker subject to prosecution under Title 18 USC 
Section 1001. 
 
The Offeror/Contractor must provide immediate written notice to the Owner if the 
Offeror/Contractor learns that its certification or that of a subcontractor was 
erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed 
circumstances.  The Contractor must require subcontractors provide immediate 
written notice to the Contractor if at any time it learns that its certification was 
erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 
 
Unless the restrictions of this clause are waived by the Secretary of Transportation 
in accordance with 49 CFR 30.17, no contract shall be awarded to an Offeror or 
subcontractor:  
1. who is owned or controlled by one or more citizens or nationals of a foreign 

country included on the list of countries that discriminate against U.S. firms 
published by the USTR or  

2. whose subcontractors are owned or controlled by one or more citizens or 
nationals of a foreign country on such USTR list or  

3. who incorporates in the public works project any product of a foreign country on 
such USTR list. 

 
Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a 
system of records in order to render, in good faith, the certification required by this 
provision.  The knowledge and information of a contractor is not required to exceed 
that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of 
business dealings. 
 
The Offeror agrees that, if awarded a contract resulting from this solicitation, it will 
incorporate this provision for certification without modification in all lower tier 
subcontracts. The Contractor may rely on the certification of a prospective 
subcontractor that it is not a firm from a foreign country included on the list of 
countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by USTR, unless the 
Offeror has knowledge that the certification is erroneous. 
 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 
when making an award.  If it is later determined that the Contractor or 
subcontractor knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, the Federal Aviation 



26 
 

Administration (FAA) may direct through the Owner cancellation of the contract or 
subcontract for default at no cost to the Owner or the FAA. 

 
8. Certification Regarding Lobbying:  The Bidder or Offeror certifies by signing and 

submitting this bid or proposal, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 
1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of 

the Bidder or Offeror, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence 
an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or 
employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection 
with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the 
making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, 
and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.  

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be 
paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of 
Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall 
complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” 
in accordance with its instructions.  

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included 
in the award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, 
subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and 
that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 
 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 
when this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a 
prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, 
title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be 
subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for 
each such failure. 

 
9. Certification of Offer/Bidder Regarding Tax Delinquency and Felony Convictions 

 The applicant represents that it is (   ) is not ( X ) a corporation that has any 
unpaid Federal tax liability that has been assessed, for which all judicial and 
administrative remedies have been exhausted or have lapsed, and that is not 
being paid in a timely manner pursuant to an agreement with the authority 
responsible for collecting the tax liability. 

 The applicant represents that it is (   ) is not ( X ) is not a corporation that was  
convicted of a criminal violation under any Federal law within the preceding 24 
months. 

 
10. Veteran’s Preference:  In the employment of labor (excluding executive, 

administrative, and supervisory positions), the Contractor and all sub-tier 
contractors must give preference to covered veterans as defined within Title 49 
United States Code Section 47112.  Covered veterans include Vietnam-era 
veterans, Persian Gulf veterans, Afghanistan-Iraq war veterans, disabled veterans, 



27 
 

and small business concerns (as defined by 15 USC 632) owned and controlled by 
disabled veterans.  This preference only applies when there are covered veterans 
readily available and qualified to perform the work to which the employment 
relates. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of 
the date written above. 
 
OWNER:      ENGINEER: 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE     LEAD EDGE DESIGN GROUP, INC. 
 
 
      
Signature: _________________________  Signature: ________________________ 
 
Name (Print): ______________________  Name (Print): ______________________ 
 
Title: _____________________________  Title: _____________________________ 



1 
 

GENERAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT is entered into this   19th   day of   April  ,   2022  , between the 
City of Dawsonville, Owner, and Lead Edge Design Group Inc., hereinafter referred to as the 
Engineer;  

WITNESSETH: 
  
 WHEREAS, while the Owner intends to accomplish improvements at Elliott Field over 
the next five years and requires professional engineering and planning services; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Owner has selected the Engineer to perform professional services to 
accomplish these improvements; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Engineer is able and desirous of providing certain professional 
engineering and planning services to the Owner; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the payments to be made and the covenants 
set forth in this Agreement to be performed by the Owner, the Engineer agrees that it shall 
faithfully perform the professional services called for the projects to be performed as listed 
below, plus any other work authorized by the Owner, in the manner and under the conditions 
described in this Agreement. 
 
 SCOPE OF SERVICES: The specified scope of services shall be detailed in a Task Order, 
which shall be prepared by the Engineer and submitted to the Owner for review and approval. 
The receipt of an approved Task Order from Owner will constitute the Engineer's Notice-to-
Proceed unless a separate Notice-to-Proceed is contemplated by the Task Order. The Engineer 
is not to undertake any work prior to the receipt of an approved Task Order executed and 
approved by the Owner.  

 
Scope of services can include, but are not limited to: Prepare project funding applications and 
capital improvements program (CIP) documents; assist with DBE Program overall goal 
updates/program administration; prepare/update Exhibit “A” property line map, Airport 
Layout Plan, and Environmental Assessments as necessary. Land Acquisition; and such other 
airport-related work as the Owner may deem necessary. 
 
SECTION I - BASIC SERVICES  
 
A. Project Development Phase:  
 

1. Consult with Owner, state and federal government agencies (when required) to clarify 
and define the requirements for a Task or Project and review available data.  
 

2.  Advise Owner as to the necessity of Owner's providing or obtaining from others data 
or services of the types described in Section II. Assist the Owner in contracting for 
such services.  

 



2 
 

3.  Prepare preliminary design necessary to determine the type, size, and scope of a Task 
or Project, based upon projected aviation activity and current airport standards in 
effect at the date of this Contract.  

 
4.  Prepare preliminary cost estimate for the Task or Project.  
 
5.  Make minor revisions to the airport layout plan as necessary to reflect the details of a 

Project.  
 
6.  Prepare applications for federal and/or state assistance grants for funding of the Task 

or Project.  
 
7.  Furnish five (5) copies of drawings, sketches, forms and reports as appropriate to the 

Owner for submission to government agencies.  
 
8.  Assist the Owner in obtaining financing for a Task or Project.  
 
9. Perform additional Services as described and required by Owner’s written authorization.  

 
SECTION II - SPECIAL SERVICES  
 
At written request of the Owner, the Engineer shall accomplish such special services as 
required by the Owner to complete the project. At the option of the Owner, special services 
may be provided by the Owner through subcontracts with other professionals or may be 
provided by the Engineer. When the Engineer is requested to provide special services, such 
services may be provided by Engineer's own forces or through subcontracts with other 
professionals. Compensation for Special Services provided by Engineer shall be in accordance 
with one of the methods identified in Section V – Compensation for Professional Services.  
 
Special services that may be requested include, but are not necessarily limited to the 
following:  
 
A. Land surveys as necessary to establish property boundaries required for property 

acquisition purposes or preparation of property maps.  
 
B. Soils and material investigations including test boring, laboratory testing of soils and 

materials, related analyses and recommendations.  
 
C.  Engineering surveys (for design and construction) to include topographic surveys, base 

line surveys, cross section surveys, etc.  
 
D. Technical inspection of construction by full time Resident Project Representative, as 

required and approved by the Owner. When authorized by the Owner the duties, 
responsibilities and limitations of authority shall be described in Section IV.  

 
E.   Reproduction of additional copies of reports, contract documents and specifications above 

the specified number furnished in Basic Services.  



3 
 

F.  Assistance to the Owner as expert witness in litigation arising from development or 
construction of the Project.  

  
G.  The accomplishment of special surveys and investigations, and the preparation of special 

reports and drawings as may be requested or authorized in writing by the Owner in 
connection with the Project.  

 
H.  Extra work created by design changes, after approval of plans and specifications by the 

Owner, FAA and GDOT, and beyond the control of the Engineer, that may be requested or 
authorized in writing by the Owner in connection with the Project.  

 
I.  Extra work required to revise or prepare contract documents, plans and specifications to 

facilitate the award of more than one construction contract, in the event the Owner adopts 
such construction program.  

 
J.  Services resulting from significant changes in extent of the Project or its design including, 

but not limited to, changes in size, complexity, Owner's schedule, or character of 
construction or method of financing; and revising previously accepted studies, reports, 
design documents or contract documents when such studies, reports, design documents 
or contract documents when such revisions are due to causes beyond Engineer's control.  

 
K.  Providing renderings or models for Owner's use.  
 
L.  Investigations involving detailed consideration of operations, maintenance and overhead 

expenses; providing value engineering during the course of design; the preparation of 
feasibility studies, cash flow and economic evaluations, rate schedules and appraisals; 
assistance in obtaining financing for Project; detailed quantity surveys of material, 
equipment and labor; and audits or inventories required in connection with construction 
performed by Owner.  

 
M.  Additional or extended services during construction made necessary by (1) work damaged 

by fire or other cause during construction, (2) a significant amount of defective or 
neglected work of Contractor(s), (3) prolongation of the contract time of any prime 
contract by more than thirty (30) days, (4) acceleration of the process schedule involving 
services beyond normal working hours, (5) default by Contractor(s), and (6) the actions 
of a resident project representative other than an employee of the Engineer.  

 
N.  Preparation of operating and maintenance manuals; protracted or extensive assistance in 

the utilization of any equipment or system (such as initial start-up, testing, adjusting and 
balancing); and training personnel for operation and maintenance.  

 
O. Services after completion of the construction phase, such as inspections during any 

guarantee period and reporting observed discrepancies under guarantees called for in any 
contract for the Project.  

 
 
 



4 
 

SECTION III - RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE OWNER  
 
A.  Make available for Engineer's use all record drawings, maps, soil data, etc.  
 
B. Respond in a timely manner to submissions by Engineer providing approvals and 

authorizations as appropriate so that work may continue at a normal pace.  
 
C. Pay all costs associated with special services authorized by the Owner, and all costs 

associated with obtaining bids from contractors.  
 
D. Furnish as required for performance of Engineer's basic services, data prepared by or 

services of others, including without limitation, core borings, probes and subsurface 
explorations, hydrographic surveys, laboratory tests and inspections of samples, materials 
and equipment; appropriate professional interpretations of all the foregoing; 
environmental assessment and impact statements; property, boundary, easement, right-
of-way, topographic and utility surveys, property descriptions; zoning, deed and other 
land use restrictions; and other special data or consultations not covered herein; all of 
which Engineer may rely upon in performing his services. For each Task Order, Owner 
shall provide the Engineer with a description of the Task or Project that is to be the subject 
of such Order, including information on functions, space requirements, special features 
and requirements, aesthetic requirements, authorized square footage, and “design-not-
to-exceed” construction budget.  

 
E.  Arrange for access to and make all provisions for Engineer to enter upon public and private 

property as required for Engineer to perform his services.  
 
F.  Examine all studies, reports, sketches, drawings, specifications, proposals and other 

documents presented by Engineer, obtain advice of an attorney, insurance counselor and 
other consultants as Owner deems appropriate for such examination and render decisions 
pertaining thereto within a reasonable time so as not to delay the services of Engineer.  

 
G.  Furnish approvals and permits from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over 

the Project and such approvals and consent from others as may be necessary for 
completion of the Project.  

 
H.  Provide such accounting, independent cost estimating and insurance counseling services 

as may be required for the Project, such legal services as Owner may require or Engineer 
may reasonably request with regard to legal issues pertaining to the Project including any 
that may be raised by Contractor(s), such auditing services as Owner may require to 
ascertain how or for what purpose any Contractor has used the monies paid to him under 
the construction contract, and such inspection services as Owner may require to ascertain 
that Contractor(s) are complying with any law, rule or regulation applicable to their 
performance of the work.  

 
I.   Give prompt written notice to Engineer whenever Owner observes or otherwise becomes 

aware of any development that affects the scope of timing of the Engineer's services, or 
any defect in the work of Contractor(s).  



5 
 

J.  Generally, the Owner will observe the procedure of issuing orders and decisions to a 
construction Contractor through the Engineer or through a third-party project 
representative designated by the Owner, if applicable. If the Owner issues orders directly 
to a construction Contractor, the Engineer shall be copied on such order.  

 
K. The Owner shall be responsible for all damages incurred or suffered by the Engineer 

resulting from negligent acts, errors or omissions attributable to the Owner or anyone for 
whom the Owner is legally responsible. Damages that the Engineer may incur include, but 
are not limited to: Engineer’s own costs of labor of its employees, and other in-house 
costs of Engineer; Contractor change order costs, including removal, repair, replacement 
or modification of work performed by a Contractor; any Contractor or Engineer delay 
damages, and cumulative impact claims/lost productivity damages; and judgments, fines 
or penalties against the Engineer. The Owner agrees to indemnify and hold the Engineer 
harmless from and against all such damages, to the extent permissible under Georgia law. 

 
SECTION IV – COMPENSATION FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES  
 

The Owner agrees to compensate the Engineer for services performed in accordance with 
one of the following methods as hereinafter set forth. The method of payment and the 
amount for specified services shall be detailed in a Task Order, which shall be prepared 
by the Engineer and submitted to the Owner for review and approval. The receipt of an 
approved Task Order from Owner will constitute the Engineer's Notice-to-Proceed, unless 
a separate Notice-to-Proceed is contemplated by the Task Order.  

 
The Engineer is not to undertake any work prior to the receipt of an approved Task Order 
executed and approved by the Owner.  

 
A.  Methods of Compensation:  One or more of the following methods of compensation shall 

be used to establish the compensation to be received by the Engineer for Services 
rendered under a Task Order. Each Task Order shall identify the specific method of 
compensation. For either method, the fair and reasonable prices negotiated between the 
Owner and the Engineer shall be used in determining the cost of each task or project 
performed.  
 
1.  Fixed Fee (Lump Sum) Method:   For work that can be defined and delineated in 

advance, payment to the Engineer will be made on the basis of a fixed fee. The agreed 
fee shall represent full payment for all payroll, overhead, profit, and other direct non-
salary expenses. The fixed fee will neither increase nor decrease unless the parties 
agree to a change in the scope, complexity, or duration of the work.  

 
2.  Hourly Method:  Under this method of payment, the Engineer's compensation will be 

equal to the hours expended on a Project times the standard hourly rates provided to 
the Owner.  

 
B.  Engineer’s Obligations and Requirements:  

 



6 
 

1.  Time charged to the Project by Engineer personnel will include the time that the 
applicable employees are engaged in actual work on the Project at the Engineer’s 
office, at the site of the Project, or travel status in connection with the Project.  

 
2.   Only the personnel needed and required to accomplish the services in keeping with 

the prescribed schedule shall be assigned to the Project.  
 
3.  Engineer may assign personnel classifications to the project that differ from those 

originally anticipated and outlined in the Task Order, after written notice to Owner, but 
only if such changes do not affect the budget or any agreed terms of a Task Order. 

 
4.  Charges will not be made to the Project during periods of sickness, vacation or at any 

other times when personnel assigned are not gainfully employed on the work.  
 
5.  In addition to any hourly-fee payment, the Engineer shall be entitled to receive 

payment for reimbursable expenses directly incurred in connection with the Project, 
including, without limitation: reasonable travel costs; copying, printing, etc. 
documents; necessary consulting expenses, reimbursable at 1.10 times the direct cost 
incurred by the Engineer therefor.  

 
6.  Requests for payment shall be set forth within properly documented invoices or other 

billing statements of a format acceptable to Owner (either, an “invoice”). The Engineer 
shall remit invoice(s) to Owner for payment. Each invoice shall seek payment only for 
services actually performed, and for reimbursable expenses actually incurred, as of 
the date of submission of the invoice. Documentation of reimbursable expenses 
claimed shall be attached to the invoice. Each invoice must be supported by 
documentation acceptable to the Owner, in its discretion, establishing that the services 
referenced within the invoice have been performed in accordance with the parties’ 
agreement. Engineer shall promptly comply with a request from Owner for 
documentation deemed necessary by the Owner for approval of an invoice.  

 
7.  Each invoice shall bear the signature of an individual authorized to bind the Engineer 

and speak on its behalf. The signature of the Engineer’s authorized representative shall 
constitute the Engineer’s representation to Owner that the services indicated in the 
invoice have reached the level stated, have been properly and timely performed in 
accordance with the parties’ Contract, and the amount(s) requested for payment are 
currently due and owing, there being no reason(s) known to the Engineer why payment 
of any portion thereof should be withheld.  

 
8.  In the event any invoice contains a defect or impropriety that would prevent payment 

by the required payment date, the Owner shall notify the Engineer’s authorized 
representative in writing of such defect or impropriety. In the event Owner becomes 
credibly informed that any representations of the Engineer as set forth in the preceding 
paragraph are wholly or partially inaccurate, the Owner may withhold payment of sums 
then, or in the future, owing to the Engineer until the inaccuracy and the cause thereof, 
is corrected to the Owner’s satisfaction. All prior payments may be corrected and 



7 
 

adjusted by the Owner within any payment to the Engineer, and if not previously 
corrected shall be corrected and adjusted in the final payment to the Engineer.  

 
C.  Required Payment Date:   Invoices shall be due and payable within 30 days after the date 

of invoice, subject to any limitations or conditions precedent as may be set forth within 
the parties’ Contract or any applicable Task Order. A service charge of one percent (1.0%) 
per month shall be assessed for those invoiced amounts not paid, through no fault of the 
Engineer, within 30 days after the Owner's receipt of the Engineer's invoice.  Upon receipt 
of payment from Owner of any invoice, the Engineer shall remit payment to each and 
every subcontractor who performed any work or services that were the subject of such 
invoice, within the time periods required by Georgia statute. The Engineer shall include in 
each of its subcontracts a provision requiring each subcontractor to include or otherwise 
be subject to the same payment requirements, with respect to each lower-tier 
subcontractor.  

 
SECTION V - MISCELLANEOUS  
 
A. Estimates:  Since the Engineer has no control over the cost of labor and materials or over 

competitive bidding market conditions, the estimates of construction cost provided for 
herein are to be made on the basis of experience and qualifications, but the Engineer does 
not guarantee the accuracy of such estimates as compared to the Contractor's bids of the 
Project construction cost.  

 
B. Extra Services:  It is mutually understood and agreed that the Owner will compensate the 

Engineer for services resulting from significant changes in general scope of a Task or 
Project, including but not necessarily limited to, changes in size, complexity, construction 
schedule, character of construction, revisions to previously accepted studies, reports, 
design documents or contract documents and for preparation of documents for separate 
bids, (individually and collectively, “Extra Services”) when such Extra Services are due to 
causes beyond the Engineer's control and when requested or authorized by the Owner. 
Extra work may also include special services as identified in Section II - Special Services. 
Compensation for Extra Services shall be in accordance with a Task Order signed by both 
parties, calculated using one of the methods identified in Section V.  
 
During the development of a Project the Engineer may expect clarifications and 
refinements within the general scope of the Project and shall make necessary adjustments 
accordingly. Approved preliminary design based on incorporation of review comments and 
accepted value engineering (VE) recommendations establish the requirements for 
development of working drawings and final design of a Project. Incorporating VE 
recommendations justified on payback and changes in functional layout to achieve greater 
efficiency or cost savings shall be deemed within the scope of the parties’ Contract, and 
shall not be considered “Special”, “Extra” or “Additional” Services. Likewise, any changes 
or modifications required to conform to applicable code requirements shall be deemed 
within the scope of the parties’ Contract.  

 
C. Reuse of Documents:  All original documents, such as tracings, plans (CADD files), 

specifications, maps, basic survey notes and sketches, charts, computations, and other 



8 
 

data prepared or obtained under the terms of the contract, are instruments of service in 
respect of a Task or Project and remain the property of the Engineer. They are not 
intended or represented to be suitable for reuse by Owner or others on extensions of the 
Project or on any other Project. Terms and conditions for the Owner’s reuse of 
documents/data on other projects require the express written approval of the Engineer. 
The Engineer shall retain its exclusive rights in its standard drawing details, designs, 
specifications, CADD files, databases, computer software, and any other proprietary 
property.  Any reuse without written verification or adaptation by Engineer for the specific 
purposes intended will be at Owner's sole risk and without liability or legal exposure to 
Engineer; and Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless Engineer from all claims, 
damages, losses and expenses including attorney's fees arising out of or resulting 
therefrom. Any such verification or adaptation will entitle Engineer to further 
compensation at rates to be agreed upon by Owner and Engineer. Notwithstanding these 
provisions the Owner shall be provided upon request a reproducible copy of any drawing 
produced under this Contract at the cost of reproduction. Any indemnification described 
in this subsection shall only extend to the limit imposed by Georgia law. 

 
D. Responsibilities of the Engineer:  

 
1. The Engineer shall be responsible for the professional quality, technical accuracy, timely 

completion, and the coordination of all designs, drawings, specifications, reports, and 
other services furnished by the Engineer under this Contract. The Engineer’s services 
shall be rendered in accordance with generally accepted practices (architectural or 
engineering, as may be applicable) as indicated by the intended purpose of a particular 
Task or Project. All final documents (100% construction documents) for Owner’s 
construction projects shall bear the seal(s) and signature(s) of the licensed 
professional(s) who prepared them.  

 
2.  Approval by the Owner, FAA or GDOT of drawings, designs, specifications, reports and 

incidental work or materials furnished hereunder shall not in any way relieve the 
Engineer of its obligations under the preceding paragraph.  

 
3.  Engineer shall maintain all required records for three years after the Owner makes 

final payment and all other pending matters are closed.  
 

4.  The Engineer shall be responsible for all damages incurred or suffered by the Owner 
resulting from (a) errors or omissions in any design or construction documents 
attributable to the Engineer or its subcontractor(s); (b) negligent performance of 
professional services by the Engineer or its subcontractor(s); or (c) other breach of 
any applicable standard of care established under the laws of the State of Georgia, by 
Engineer or its subcontractor(s). Damages that the Owner may incur include, but are 
not limited to: Owner’s own costs of labor of its employees, and other in-house costs 
of Owner; Contractor change order costs, including removal, repair, replacement or 
modification of work performed by a Contractor in accordance with design or 
construction documents provided by Engineer; any Contractor or Owner delay 
damages, and cumulative impact claims/lost productivity damages; and judgments, 



9 
 

fines or penalties against the Owner. The Engineer agrees to indemnify and hold the 
Owner harmless from and against all such damages.  

5.  If the Engineer has reason to believe that the use of a required design, process or 
product would constitute an infringement of a patent or other intellectual property 
right, the Engineer shall promptly provide such information to Owner. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, the Engineer shall indemnify and hold Owner harmless from 
and against any and all liability, loss, claims, demands, suits, costs, fees and expenses 
(including reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys, expert witnesses and other 
consultants) for infringement of patents, copyrights or other intellectual property 
rights, except with respect to designs, process or products of a particular manufacturer 
expressly required by the Owner in writing, and (ii) infringements about which the 
Engineer timely notified Owner and which occurred through no fault of the Engineer.  

 
6.  The Engineer shall be the professional advisor and consultant to the Owner for technical 

matters related to a Task or Project and shall be responsible to and only to the Owner. 
The Engineer shall advise the Owner of approvals and changes necessary to keep a 
Task or Project within the scope of a particular contract and within cost limits. The 
Owner shall make the final decision on all approvals, rejections, change requirements 
and other similar decisions to the Engineer.  

 
E.  Termination of Contract  
 

1. Termination for Convenience  
 
The Owner may, by written notice to the Engineer, terminate this Agreement, or any 
Task Order, for its convenience and without cause or default on the part of Engineer. 
Upon receipt of the notice of termination, except as explicitly directed by the Owner, 
the Engineer must immediately discontinue all services affected. 
 
Owner agrees to make just and equitable compensation to the Engineer for satisfactory 
work completed up through the date the Engineer receives the termination notice.  
Compensation will not include anticipated profit on non-performed services. 
 
Owner further agrees to hold Engineer harmless for errors or omissions in documents 
that are incomplete as a result of the termination action under this clause.  
 
2. Termination for Default  

 
Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause if the other party fails to fulfill its 
obligations that are essential to the completion of the work per the terms and 
conditions of the Agreement. The party initiating the termination action must allow the 
breaching party an opportunity to dispute or cure the breach.  
 
The terminating party must provide the breaching party 10 days advance written 
notice of its intent to terminate the Agreement. The notice must specify the nature and 
extent of the breach, the conditions necessary to cure the breach, and the effective 



10 
 

date of the termination action.  The rights and remedies in this clause are in addition to 
any other rights and remedies provided by law or under this agreement. 

a. Termination by Owner: The Owner may terminate this Agreement in whole or 
in part, for the failure of the Engineer to: 
1. Perform the services within the time specified in this contract or by Owner 

approved extension; 
2. Make adequate progress so as to endanger satisfactory performance of the 

Project; or 
3. Fulfill the obligations of the Agreement that are essential to the completion 

of the Project. 
 

Upon receipt of the notice of termination, the Engineer must immediately discontinue all 
services affected unless the notice directs otherwise.  
 
Owner agrees to make just and equitable compensation to the Engineer for satisfactory 
work completed up through the date the Engineer receives the termination notice.  
Compensation will not include anticipated profit on non-performed services. 
 
Owner further agrees to hold Engineer harmless for errors or omissions in documents 
that are incomplete as a result of the termination action under this clause. 
 
If, after finalization of the termination action, the Owner determines the Engineer was 
not in default of the Agreement, the rights and obligations of the parties shall be the 
same as if the Owner issued the termination for the convenience of the Owner. 

 
b. Termination by Engineer: The Engineer may terminate this Agreement in whole 

or in part, if the Owner: 
1. Defaults on its obligations under this Agreement; 
2. Fails to make payment to the Engineer in accordance with the terms of this 

Agreement; 
3. Suspends the Project for more than 180 days due to reasons beyond the 

control of the Engineer. 
 

Upon receipt of a notice of termination from the Engineer, Owner agrees to cooperate 
with Engineer for the purpose of terminating the agreement or portion thereof, by 
mutual consent.  If Owner and Engineer cannot reach mutual agreement on the 
termination settlement, the Engineer may, without prejudice to any rights and 
remedies it may have, proceed with terminating all or parts of this Agreement based 
upon the Owner’s breach of the contract. 

 
In the event of termination due to Owner breach, the Engineer is entitled to invoice 
Owner and to receive full payment for all services performed or furnished in 
accordance with this Agreement and all justified reimbursable expenses incurred by the 
Engineer through the effective date of termination action. Owner agrees to hold 
Engineer harmless for errors or omissions in documents that are incomplete as a result 
of the termination action under this clause. 
 



11 
 

F.  Contractual disputes; remedies:  Except as may be otherwise provided in this Contract, 
any dispute arising out of or related to this Contract will be submitted for non-binding 
mediation; however, should the dispute not be resolved through agreement of the parties or 
non-binding mediation, the dispute will be decided in a court of law within the County in which 
the Owner is located.  

 
G.  Period of Service: The services shall be completed in accordance with the schedule 
provided with each task order, and made a part of this Agreement.  The Engineer and the 
Owner will be required to meet this schedule. 
 
H.  Successors and Assigns:  The Owner and the Engineer agree that this Agreement and all 
agreements entered into under the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon the 
parties hereto and their successors and assigns. 
 
 I.  Law of Georgia to Govern:  This Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of 
the State of Georgia.  The Engineer shall comply with all local, state, and federal laws and 
regulations which govern the performance of this Agreement. 
 
 J.  Sole Beneficiary:  This Agreement is made for the sole benefit of the parties hereto and 
nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to give any rights or benefits to anyone other 
than the Owner and the Engineer. 
  
 K.  Severability and Survival: 
 

1. Any provision or part of this Agreement held to be void or unenforceable under any 
law or regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue 
to be valid and binding upon the Owner and the Engineer. 
 

2. All express representations, indemnifications, or limitations of liability made or given 
in this Agreement will survive the completion of all services by the Engineer under this 
Agreement or the termination of this Agreement for any reason. 

 
SECTION VI - REQUIRED FEDERAL CONTRACT PROVISIONS  
Under Section VII – Required Federal Contract Provisions, references to “contractor” or 
“consultant” shall mean the “Engineer”, and references to “sponsor” shall mean the “Owner”. 

 
A. PROVISIONS FOR ALL WORK AUTHORIZATIONS REGARDLESS OF FUNDING SOURCE  

1. General Civil Rights Provisions: The Engineer agrees to comply with pertinent 
statutes, Executive Orders and such rules as are promulgated to ensure that no 
person shall, on the grounds of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, or 
disability be excluded from participating in any activity conducted with or benefiting 
from Federal assistance.  
 
This provision binds the Contractor and subcontractors from the bid solicitation 
period through the completion of the contract. This provision is in addition to that 
required by Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964. 
 



12 
 

2. Title VI Solicitation Notice:  The Owner, in accordance with the provisions of Title VI 
of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (78 Stat. 252, 42 USC §§ 2000d to 2000d-4) and the 
Regulations, hereby notifies all bidders or offerors that it will affirmatively ensure 
that any contract entered into pursuant to this advertisement, [select disadvantaged 
business enterprises or airport concession disadvantaged business enterprises] will 
be afforded full and fair opportunity to submit bids in response to this invitation and 
will not be discriminated against on the grounds of race, color, or national origin in 
consideration for an award. 
 

3. Compliance with Nondiscrimination Requirements:  During the performance of this 
contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and successors in interest 
(hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor”), agrees as follows: 
 

1. Compliance with Regulations:  The Contractor (hereinafter includes consultants) 
will comply with the Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts and 
Authorities, as they may be amended from time to time, which are herein 
incorporated by reference and made a part of this contract. 

2. Nondiscrimination:  The Contractor, with regard to the work performed by it 
during the contract, will not discriminate on the grounds of race, color, or 
national origin in the selection and retention of subcontractors, including 
procurements of materials and leases of equipment.  The Contractor will not 
participate directly or indirectly in the discrimination prohibited by the 
Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities, including employment practices when the 
contract covers any activity, project, or program set forth in Appendix B of 49 
CFR part 21.  

3. Solicitations for Subcontracts, including Procurements of Materials and 
Equipment:  In all solicitations, either by competitive bidding or negotiation made 
by the Contractor for work to be performed under a subcontract, including 
procurements of materials, or leases of equipment, each potential subcontractor 
or supplier will be notified by the Contractor of the contractor’s obligations under 
this contract and the Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities on the grounds of 
race, color, or national origin.   

4. Information and Reports:  The Contractor will provide all information and reports 
required by the Acts, the Regulations, and directives issued pursuant thereto and 
will permit access to its books, records, accounts, other sources of information, 
and its facilities as may be determined by the sponsor or the Federal Aviation 
Administration to be pertinent to ascertain compliance with such 
Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities and instructions.  Where any information 
required of a contractor is in the exclusive possession of another who fails or 
refuses to furnish the information, the Contractor will so certify to the sponsor or 
the Federal Aviation Administration, as appropriate, and will set forth what efforts 
it has made to obtain the information. 

5. Sanctions for Noncompliance:  In the event of a Contractor’s noncompliance with 
the non-discrimination provisions of this contract, the sponsor will impose such 
contract sanctions as it or the Federal Aviation Administration may determine to 
be appropriate, including, but not limited to: 



13 
 

i. Withholding payments to the Contractor under the contract until the 
Contractor complies; and/or 

ii. Cancelling, terminating, or suspending a contract, in whole or in part. 
6. Incorporation of Provisions:  The Contractor will include the provisions of 

paragraphs one through six in every subcontract, including procurements of 
materials and leases of equipment, unless exempt by the Acts, the Regulations, 
and directives issued pursuant thereto.  The Contractor will take action with 
respect to any subcontract or procurement as the sponsor or the Federal Aviation 
Administration may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including 
sanctions for noncompliance.  Provided, that if the Contractor becomes involved 
in, or is threatened with litigation by a subcontractor, or supplier because of such 
direction, the Contractor may request the sponsor to enter into any litigation to 
protect the interests of the sponsor.  In addition, the Contractor may request the 
United States to enter into the litigation to protect the interests of the United 
States. 

 
4. Title VI List of Pertinent Nondiscrimination Acts and Authorities:  During the 

performance of this contract, the Contractor, for itself, its assignees, and 
successors in interest (hereinafter referred to as the “Contractor”) agrees to comply 
with the following non-discrimination statutes and authorities; including but not 
limited to: 

 
 Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 USC § 2000d et seq., 78 stat. 252) 

(prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin);  
 49 CFR part 21 (Non-discrimination in Federally-assisted programs of the 

Department of Transportation—Effectuation of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 
1964);  

 The Uniform Relocation Assistance and Real Property Acquisition Policies Act of 
1970, (42 USC § 4601) (prohibits unfair treatment of persons displaced or whose 
property has been acquired because of Federal or Federal-aid programs and 
projects);  

 Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 USC § 794 et seq.), as 
amended (prohibits discrimination on the basis of disability); and 49 CFR part 27; 

 The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 USC § 6101 et seq.) 
(prohibits discrimination on the basis of age); 

 Airport and Airway Improvement Act of 1982 (49 USC § 471, Section 47123), as 
amended (prohibits discrimination based on race, creed, color, national origin, or 
sex);  

 The Civil Rights Restoration Act of 1987 (PL 100-209) (broadened the scope, 
coverage and applicability of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age 
Discrimination Act of 1975 and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, by 
expanding the definition of the terms “programs or activities” to include all of the 
programs or activities of the Federal-aid recipients, sub-recipients and 
contractors, whether such programs or activities are Federally funded or not); 

 Titles II and III of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, which prohibit 
discrimination on the basis of disability in the operation of public entities, public 
and private transportation systems, places of public accommodation, and certain 



14 
 

testing entities (42 USC §§ 12131 – 12189) as implemented by U.S. Department 
of Transportation regulations at 49 CFR parts 37 and 38; 

 The Federal Aviation Administration’s Nondiscrimination statute (49 USC § 
47123) (prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, and 
sex); 

 Executive Order 12898, Federal Actions to Address Environmental Justice in 
Minority Populations and Low-Income Populations, which ensures 
nondiscrimination against minority populations by discouraging programs, 
policies, and activities with disproportionately high and adverse human health or 
environmental effects on minority and low-income populations; 

 Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to Services for Persons with Limited 
English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, national origin discrimination 
includes discrimination because of limited English proficiency (LEP).  To ensure 
compliance with Title VI, you must take reasonable steps to ensure that LEP 
persons have meaningful access to your programs (70 Fed. Reg. at 74087 to 
74100); 

 Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, as amended, which prohibits you 
from discriminating because of sex in education programs or activities (20 USC 
1681 et seq). 

 
5. Clean Air and Water Pollution Control:  Contractor agrees to comply with all 

applicable standards, orders, and regulations issued pursuant to the Clean Air Act 
(42 USC § 740-7671q) and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act as amended 
(33 USC § 1251-1387). The Contractor agrees to report any violation to the Owner 
immediately upon discovery. The Owner assumes responsibility for notifying the 
Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the Federal Aviation Administration.  
 
Contractor must include this requirement in all subcontracts that exceeds 
$150,000. 
 

6. Equal Opportunity Clause:  During the performance of this contract, the Contractor 
agrees as follows: 
 
1.  The Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for 

employment because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The 
Contractor will take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed, 
and that employees are treated during employment, without regard to their 
race, color, religion, sex, sexual orientation, gender identify, or national origin. 
Such action shall include, but not be limited to, the following: employment, 
upgrading, demotion, or transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff, 
or termination; rates of pay or other forms of compensation; and selection for 
training, including apprenticeship. The Contractor agrees to post in conspicuous 
places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be 
provided setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause. 

2.  The Contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed 
by or on behalf of the Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive 



15 
 

considerations for employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or 
national origin. 

3.  The Contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with 
which it has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract or 
understanding, a notice to be provided advising the said labor union or workers’ 
representatives of the Contractor’s commitments under this section and shall 
post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and 
applicants for employment. 

4.  The Contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order 11246 of 
September 24, 1965, and of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the 
Secretary of Labor. 

5.  The Contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive 
Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and by rules, regulations, and orders of 
the Secretary of Labor, or pursuant thereto, and will permit access to his books, 
records, and accounts by the administering agency and the Secretary of Labor 
for purposes of investigation to ascertain compliance with such rules, 
regulations, and orders. 

6.  In the event of the Contractor’s noncompliance with the nondiscrimination clauses 
of this contract or with any of the said rules, regulations, or orders, this contract 
may be canceled, terminated, or suspended in whole or in part and the 
Contractor may be declared ineligible for further Government contracts or 
federally assisted construction contracts in accordance with procedures 
authorized in Executive Order 11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other 
sanctions may be imposed and remedies invoked as provided in Executive Order 
11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, regulation, or order of the Secretary of 
Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

7. The Contractor will include the portion of the sentence immediately preceding 
paragraph (1) and the provisions of paragraphs (1) through (7) in every 
subcontract or purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of 
the Secretary of Labor issued pursuant to section 204 of Executive Order 11246 
of September 24, 1965, so that such provisions will be binding upon each 
subcontractor or vendor. The Contractor will take such action with respect to any 
subcontract or purchase order as the administering agency may direct as a 
means of enforcing such provisions, including sanctions for noncompliance: 
Provided, however, that in the event a contractor becomes involved in, or is 
threatened with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such 
direction by the administering agency the Contractor may request the United 
States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States. 

 
7. Federal Fair Labor Standards Act:  All contracts and subcontracts that result from 

this solicitation incorporate by reference the provisions of 29 CFR part 201, the 
Federal Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), with the same force and effect as if given 
in full text.  The FLSA sets minimum wage, overtime pay, recordkeeping, and child 
labor standards for full and part-time workers. 
 
The Consultant has full responsibility to monitor compliance to the referenced 
statute or regulation.  The Consultant must address any claims or disputes that 



16 
 

arise from this requirement directly with the U.S. Department of Labor – Wage and 
Hour Division. 

8. Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970:  All contracts and subcontracts that 
result from this solicitation incorporate by reference the requirements of 
29 CFR Part 1910 with the same force and effect as if given in full text.  The 
employer must provide a work environment that is free from recognized hazards 
that may cause death or serious physical harm to the employee. The employer 
retains full responsibility to monitor its compliance and their subcontractor’s 
compliance with the applicable requirements of the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act of 1970 (20 CFR Part 1910).  The employer must address any claims or 
disputes that pertain to a referenced requirement directly with the U.S. Department 
of Labor – Occupational Safety and Health Administration.  
 

9. Rights to Inventions:  Contracts or agreements that include the performance of 
experimental, developmental, or research work must provide for the rights of the 
Federal Government and the Owner in any resulting invention as established by 37 
CFR part 401, Rights to Inventions Made by Non-profit Organizations and Small 
Business Firms under Government Grants, Contracts, and Cooperative Agreements.  
This contract incorporates by reference the patent and inventions rights as specified 
within 37 CFR §401.14.  Contractor must include this requirement in all sub-tier 
contracts involving experimental, developmental, or research work. 

  



17 
 

B. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS FOR ALL AIP FUNDED A/E WORK AUTHORIZATIONS  
 
1. Access to Records and Reports:  The Contractor must maintain an acceptable cost 

accounting system. The Contractor agrees to provide the Owner, the Federal 
Aviation Administration and the Comptroller General of the United States or any of 
their duly authorized representatives access to any books, documents, papers and 
records of the Contractor which are directly pertinent to the specific contract for the 
purpose of making audit, examination, excerpts and transcriptions. The Contractor 
agrees to maintain all books, records and reports required under this contract for a 
period of not less than three years after final payment is made and all pending 
matters are closed. 
 

2. Breach of Contract Terms: Any violation or breach of terms of this contract on the 
part of the Consultant or its subcontractors may result in the suspension or 
termination of this contract or such other action that may be necessary to enforce 
the rights of the parties of this agreement.  
 
Owner will provide Consultant written notice that describes the nature of the breach 
and corrective actions the Consultant must undertake in order to avoid termination 
of the contract.  Owner reserves the right to withhold payments to Contractor until 
such time the Contractor corrects the breach or the Owner elects to terminate the 
contract. The Owner’s notice will identify a specific date by which the Consultant 
must correct the breach.  Owner may proceed with termination of the contract if 
the Consultant fails to correct the breach by the deadline indicated in the Owner’s 
notice. 
 
The duties and obligations imposed by the Contract Documents and the rights and 
remedies available thereunder are in addition to, and not a limitation of, any duties, 
obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by law. 
 

3. Certifications of Lower Tier Contractors Regarding Debarment:  The successful 
bidder, by administering each lower tier subcontract that exceeds $25,000 as a 
“covered transaction”, must verify each lower tier participant of a “covered 
transaction” under the project is not presently debarred or otherwise disqualified 
from participation in this federally assisted project.  The successful bidder will 
accomplish this by: 

1. Checking the System for Award Management at website:  http://www.sam.gov. 
2. Collecting a certification statement similar to the Certification of Offerer /Bidder 

Regarding Debarment, above. 
3. Inserting a clause or condition in the covered transaction with the lower tier 

contract. 
 

If the Federal Aviation Administration later determines that a lower tier participant 
failed to disclose to a higher tier participant that it was excluded or disqualified at 
the time it entered the covered transaction, the FAA may pursue any available 
remedies, including suspension and debarment of the non-compliant participant.  

 



18 
 

4. Disadvantaged Business Enterprises:  Contract Assurance (§ 26.13) – The 
Contractor or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract. The Contractor shall 
carry out applicable requirements of 49 CFR part 26 in the award and 
administration of Department of Transportation-assisted contracts. Failure by the 
Contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach of this contract, 
which may result in the termination of this contract or such other remedy as the 
Owner deems appropriate, which may include, but is not limited to: 

1. Withholding monthly progress payments; 
2. Assessing sanctions; 
3. Liquidated damages; and/or 
4. Disqualifying the Contractor from future bidding as non-responsible. 

 
Prompt Payment (§26.29) – The prime contractor agrees to pay each subcontractor 
under this prime contract for satisfactory performance of its contract no later than 
14 days from the receipt of each payment the prime contractor receives from the 
Owner. The prime contractor agrees further to return retainage payments to each 
subcontractor within 14 days after the subcontractor’s work is satisfactorily 
completed. Any delay or postponement of payment from the above referenced time 
frame may occur only for good cause following written approval of the Owner. This 
clause applies to both DBE and non-DBE subcontractors. 

 
5. Texting When Driving:  In accordance with Executive Order 13513, “Federal 

Leadership on Reducing Text Messaging While Driving”, (10/1/2009) and DOT 
Order 3902.10, “Text Messaging While Driving”, (12/30/2009), the Federal Aviation 
Administration encourages recipients of Federal grant funds to adopt and enforce 
safety policies that decrease crashes by distracted drivers, including policies to ban 
text messaging while driving when performing work related to a grant or subgrant.  
 
In support of this initiative, the Owner encourages the Contractor to promote 
policies and initiatives for its employees and other work personnel that decrease 
crashes by distracted drivers, including policies that ban text messaging while 
driving motor vehicles while performing work activities associated with the project.  
The Contractor must include the substance of this clause in all sub-tier contracts 
exceeding $3,500 that involve driving a motor vehicle in performance of work 
activities associated with the project. 
 

6. Energy Conservation Requirements:  Contractor and Subcontractor agree to comply 
with mandatory standards and policies relating to energy efficiency as contained in 
the state energy conservation plan issued in compliance with the Energy Policy and 
Conservation Act (42 USC 6201et seq). 

 
7. Trade Restriction Certification:  By submission of an offer, the Offeror certifies that 

with respect to this solicitation and any resultant contract, the Offeror – 
1. is not owned or controlled by one or more citizens of a foreign country included 

in the list of countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by the 
Office of the United States Trade Representative (USTR); 



19 
 

2. has not knowingly entered into any contract or subcontract for this project with 
a person that is a citizen or national of a foreign country included on the list of 
countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by the USTR; and  

3. has not entered into any subcontract for any product to be used on the Federal 
project that is produced in a foreign country included on the list of countries 
that discriminate against U.S. firms published by the USTR. 

 
This certification concerns a matter within the jurisdiction of an agency of the 
United States of America and the making of a false, fictitious, or fraudulent 
certification may render the maker subject to prosecution under Title 18 USC 
Section 1001. 
 
The Offeror/Contractor must provide immediate written notice to the Owner if the 
Offeror/Contractor learns that its certification or that of a subcontractor was 
erroneous when submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed 
circumstances.  The Contractor must require subcontractors provide immediate 
written notice to the Contractor if at any time it learns that its certification was 
erroneous by reason of changed circumstances. 
 
Unless the restrictions of this clause are waived by the Secretary of Transportation 
in accordance with 49 CFR 30.17, no contract shall be awarded to an Offeror or 
subcontractor:  
1. who is owned or controlled by one or more citizens or nationals of a foreign 

country included on the list of countries that discriminate against U.S. firms 
published by the USTR or  

2. whose subcontractors are owned or controlled by one or more citizens or 
nationals of a foreign country on such USTR list or  

3. who incorporates in the public works project any product of a foreign country on 
such USTR list. 

 
Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a 
system of records in order to render, in good faith, the certification required by this 
provision.  The knowledge and information of a contractor is not required to exceed 
that which is normally possessed by a prudent person in the ordinary course of 
business dealings. 
 
The Offeror agrees that, if awarded a contract resulting from this solicitation, it will 
incorporate this provision for certification without modification in all lower tier 
subcontracts. The Contractor may rely on the certification of a prospective 
subcontractor that it is not a firm from a foreign country included on the list of 
countries that discriminate against U.S. firms as published by USTR, unless the 
Offeror has knowledge that the certification is erroneous. 
 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 
when making an award.  If it is later determined that the Contractor or 
subcontractor knowingly rendered an erroneous certification, the Federal Aviation 



20 
 

Administration (FAA) may direct through the Owner cancellation of the contract or 
subcontract for default at no cost to the Owner or the FAA. 

 
8. Certification Regarding Lobbying:  The Bidder or Offeror certifies by signing and 

submitting this bid or proposal, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 
1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of 

the Bidder or Offeror, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence 
an officer or employee of an agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or 
employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection 
with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of any Federal grant, the 
making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative agreement, 
and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement.  

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be 
paid to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or 
employee of any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of 
Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the undersigned shall 
complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, “Disclosure Form to Report Lobbying,” 
in accordance with its instructions.  

3. The undersigned shall require that the language of this certification be included 
in the award documents for all sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, 
subgrants, and contracts under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and 
that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly. 
 

This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed 
when this transaction was made or entered into. Submission of this certification is a 
prerequisite for making or entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, 
title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required certification shall be 
subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for 
each such failure. 

 
9. Certification of Offer/Bidder Regarding Tax Delinquency and Felony Convictions 

 The applicant represents that it is (   ) is not ( X ) a corporation that has any 
unpaid Federal tax liability that has been assessed, for which all judicial and 
administrative remedies have been exhausted or have lapsed, and that is not 
being paid in a timely manner pursuant to an agreement with the authority 
responsible for collecting the tax liability. 

 The applicant represents that it is (   ) is not ( X ) is not a corporation that was  
convicted of a criminal violation under any Federal law within the preceding 24 
months. 

 
10. Veteran’s Preference:  In the employment of labor (excluding executive, 

administrative, and supervisory positions), the Contractor and all sub-tier 
contractors must give preference to covered veterans as defined within Title 49 
United States Code Section 47112.  Covered veterans include Vietnam-era 
veterans, Persian Gulf veterans, Afghanistan-Iraq war veterans, disabled veterans, 



21 
 

and small business concerns (as defined by 15 USC 632) owned and controlled by 
disabled veterans.  This preference only applies when there are covered veterans 
readily available and qualified to perform the work to which the employment 
relates. 

 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed as of 
the date written above. 
 
OWNER:      ENGINEER: 
CITY OF DAWSONVILLE     LEAD EDGE DESIGN GROUP  
    
 
 
Signature: _________________________  Signature: ________________________ 
 
Name (Print): ______________________  Name (Print): ______________________ 
 
Title: _____________________________  Title: _____________________________ 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   APPROVE UPGRADE TO WELL AND LIFT STATION MONITORING SYSTEM 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/07/2022    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO APPROVE UPGRADE TO WELL AND LIFT STATION MONITORING SYSTEM (SCADA) FOR 
THE UTILITIES DEPARTMENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $36,700.00 TO JK DUREN COMPANY, INC. 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

• AMOUNT IS BUDGETED IN FY2022 ENTERPRISE FUND  
• UPGRADED OBSOLETE TR RADIOS TO VIPER RADIOS 
• UPGRADE IS ESSENTIAL TO THE MONITORING SYSTEM; ALERTS TO STAFF OF 

WELL, SPRING, LIFT STATION AND/OR WASTEWATER ISSUES WILL NOT WORK 
WITHOUT THE UPGRADE 

• VENDOR IS SOLE SOURCE PROVIDER FOR THE EQUIPMENT 
   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 STAFF RECOMMENDS APPROVAL OF PURCHASE 
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Jacob Barr, Utilities ______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   7f     
 

 

 



                                           
 

 

    
     SUBJECT:   PROCLAMATIONS 

 
     CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  03/07/2022    
   
 

 

     BUDGET INFORMATION:    GL ACCOUNT #        

   Funds Available from: _____ Annual Budget    _____ Capital Budget    Other________  

 Budget Amendment Request from Reserve: _____Enterprise Fund    _____General Fund 
 

 

     PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: 
 

    TO READ AND PRESENT PROCLAMATIONS FOR (1) EXCEPTIONAL CHILDREN’S WEEK AND 
(2) EMPLOYEE APPRECIATION DAY 

    
 
 

 

     HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 

    FOR EXCEPTIONAL CHILDREN’S WEEK PROCLAMATION, TEACHERS ASHLEY CARAY AND 
PHYLLIS CHARNLEY WILL BE PRESENT AND STUDENTS TYLER BROWN, RYHLEE 
MCCAVITT AND JUAN PEREZ WILL ALSO BE IN ATTENDANCE. 

   
 

     OPTIONS: 
 
 
 

     RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
   
 
 

 
 

     REQUESTED BY: Administration ______ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #   8     
 

 

 







                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:                                  ZA C2200058         _________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  March 7, 2022       
 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: Public Hearing 
 
Rezoning application requires a public hearing before approval.   
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
1. Property is in John Walden Post 3 Council district. 

 
2. The property current use is 27-unit apartments. 

 
3. The current HB (Highway Business District) use is a non-conforming use. 

 
4. Proposed zoning district is CBD (Central Business District). 

 
5. Adjoining property North and East is R3 (Single Family Residential District). 

6. Adjoining property West and South is CBD (Central Business District). 

7. Applicant chose the CBD (Central Business District) over R6 (Multiple Family Residential District) 
to reduce the number of variance request. R6 zoning district would have required at minimum five 
variances between zoning and land development requirements.  
 

8. Planning Commission approved rezoning request on 12/13/21 with no conditions. 
 
 

 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS: 
 

 ___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning______________________________________________ 
 

REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer_        ____________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  9 
 



































                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:                                  VAR C2200060         _________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  March 7, 2022       
 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: Public Hearing 
 
Variance application requires a public hearing before approval.   
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
1. Property is in John Walden Post 3 Council district.  

    
2. Applicant is requesting to eliminate the required 30-foot buffer along the rear and east property lines 

and reduce the 40-foot setback to 17 feet along the East property line and 20 feet along the rear 
property line per Zoning Article VIII Sec 802 (1).  
 

3. Planning Commission approved the variance request on 2/14/22 with no conditions. 
 
 

 
 
 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS: 
 

 ___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning______________________________________________ 
 

REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer_        ____________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM #  10 
 

























                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:                                  ZA C2200111         _________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  March 7, 2022       
 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: Public Hearing 
 
Rezoning application requires a public hearing before approval.   
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 

 
1. Property is in Mark French Post 4 Council district. 

2. City Planning Department and the applicant is requesting to rezone property from R1 district 
(Restricted Single Family Residential District) to R3 district (Single Family Residential District). 
 

3. Requesting to rezone .60 ac. 

4. George Elliott Property was annexed into the city on June 16,1997 with an automatic zoning 
designation of R1 (Restricted Single-Family District). 
 

5. The subject property adjoins County zoned RA district to the south, city zoned R1 zoning district to 
the west, city zoned R3 district to the east and city zoned R1 district to the north. 

 
6. 2018 comprehensive plan character area proposes residential use.  

 
7. Planning Department is reviewing the status of each parcel in the City verses the 2018 zoning map 

and found the 2018 zoning map incorrect. The City is recommending the property owner rezone to 
R3 (Single family Residential District) to avoid future non-conforming zoning. The July 19,2004 
City Council minutes and Annexation file #202 confirms existing zoning as R1 (Restricted Single-
Family District).     
 

8. Planning Commission approved the rezoning request with no conditions on 2/14/22.  

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS: 
 

 ___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning______________________________________________ 
 

REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer_        ____________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 11 
 





















                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:                                  ZA C2200112         _________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  March 7, 2022       
 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: Public Hearing 
 
Rezoning application requires a public hearing before approval.   
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
1. Property is in William Illg Post 2 Council district. 

2. City Planning Department and the applicant is requesting to rezone property from R3 district (Single 
Family Residential District) to R6 district (Multiple Family Residential District). 
 

3. Requesting to rezone 15.84 ac. 

4. Property was annexed and zoned into the city on February 6, 2006. 

5. The subject property adjoins County zoned RA district to the south, east, west and City zoned R1 
district to the north. 

 
6. 2018 comprehensive plan character area proposes residential use.  

 
7. Planning Department is reviewing the status of each parcel in the City verses the 2018 zoning map 

and found the 2018 zoning map incorrect. The City is recommending the property owner rezone to 
R6 (Multiple Family Residential District) to avoid future non-conforming zoning. The February 6, 
2006 City Council minutes confirms existing zoning as R3 (Single Family Residential District).    

 
8. Existing use is apartments. 

 

9. Planning Commission approved request on 2/14/22 with no conditions. 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS: 
 

 ___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning______________________________________________ 
 

REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer_        ____________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 12 
 































                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:                                  ZA C2200119         _________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  March 7, 2022       
 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: Public Hearing 
 
Rezoning application requires a public hearing before approval.   
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
1. Property is in Caleb Phillips Post 1 Council district. 

2. Applicant is requesting to rezone property from R1 district (Restricted Single Family Residential 
District) to R3 district (Single Family Residential District). 
 

3. Applicant is requesting to rezone 121.11 acres. 

4. Proposed 235 units with a density of 1.94/units per acres. 

5. Minimum 1500 heated square foot homes. 

6. Annexed into the city on January 5, 2004. 

7. The subject property adjoins County zoned RSR district to the south, County RA district to the west, 
County RA district and City R3 district to the north and City R1 district to the east. 

 
8. 2018 comprehensive plan character area proposes residential use.  

 
9. DRI findings recommended potential connections to future trails or sidewalks outside of the 

subdivision and pedestrian connectivity network within the development and requested additional 
best environmental practices and explicit protection for the Etowah River water shed. City code will 
require sidewalks on both side of the interior streets and sidewalk connectivity to Thunder Ridge 
development along HWY 9S frontage.  

 
10. If approved the Planning Department recommends additional 50-foot undisturbed stream buffers on 

each side of the existing streams. Exception of 20-foot sanitary sewer easement and installation in 
back 20 feet.  

 
11. If approved the Planning Department recommends the installation of nature trail network system in 

the open space areas and have connectivity to the Thunder Ridge development nature trails. 
 

12. If approved the Planning Department recommends a no access easement adjoining the HWY 9S 
frontage boundary.   

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 13 
 



 
13. If approved the Planning Department recommends not to exceed 235 units and a density of 1.94 

units/acre.   
 

14. If approved the Planning Department recommends the applicant request a stream study in Shoal 
Creek Tributary Number 14 and 14.1 from the US Fish and Wildlife Service to determine the 
existence of the threatened Cherokee or Etowah Darter. If Darters exist in either tributary the 
applicant must request a formal consultation meeting with the US Fish and Wildlife Service and 
provide the City with FWS recommended protection action plan.   

 
15. If approved the Planning Department recommends a 40-foot undisturbed buffer adjoining Apple 

Ridge parcels. 
 

16. If approved the Planning Department recommends the installation of a right turn lane at HWY 9N 
and Perimeter Road and or dedicate funds for a future Round About.  

 
17. Planning Commission denied the request on 2/14/22.  

 
 

 

 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS: 
 

 ___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning______________________________________________ 
 

REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer_        ____________________________________________ 









































































































































































                                           
 

 

SUBJECT:                                  HPMA C2200124         _________ 
 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING DATE:  March 7, 2022       
 
PURPOSE FOR REQUEST: Public Hearing 
 
Historic Preservation Map amendment application requires a public hearing before approval.   
 
HISTORY/ FACTS / ISSUES: 
 
1. Applicant is requesting to amend the Historic Preservation Map TMP 092B 021. 

2. TMP 092B 021 parcel consist of 21.63 acres. 

3. TMP 092B 021 in compass’s 4+/- acres within the Historic Preservation District. 

4. TMP 092B 021 is currently zoned R3 (Single Family Residential District). 

5. Chapter 104 Article II Sec. 104-21(d)(1)d: The Preservation Commission can recommend to the 
City Council that the designation of any district, site, building, structure or object as a historic 
property or as a historic district be revoked or removed.  
 

6. Chapter 104 Article II Sec. 104-27: Boundaries and map of Historic district shall be amended and 
maintained from time to time. 

 
7. Historic Preservation Commission approved the elimination of a portion of the Historic District on 

TMP 092B 021 from the northern Right of Way of Harry Melling and Tucker Avenue intersection 
extending to the western boundary abutting TMP D01 001 on 2/28/2022 without conditions. 

 
 

 
 

 
________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

OPTIONS: 
 

 ___________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

RECOMMENDED SAMPLE MOTION: 
 

 
 

DEPARTMENT:  Planning and Zoning______________________________________________ 
 

REQUESTED BY: David Picklesimer_        ____________________________________________ 

DAWSONVILLE CITY COUNCIL 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY FOR  

AGENDA ITEM # 14 
 
















	1. 03.07.2022 AGENDA City Council Regular Meeting
	7. Executive Summary For Agenda Items CONSENT AGENDA
	7a. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items MINUTES
	7a. 2 02.21.2022 MINUTES.draft
	Ordinance 03-2022_Charter Amendment.pdf

	7b. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items RESOLUTION 
	7b. 2 Resolution R2022-01_ Adoption of Water Conservation Plan
	7b. 3 Dawsonville Water Conservation Plan February 2022
	8 Dawson County SDS 2018 water and sewer excerpt.pdf
	2018 Dawson Co SDS 1 - water and sewer unchanged
	2008 Dawson Co SDS - water and sewer portions


	7c. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items TRAINING
	7c. 2 description of training
	7d. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items CITY-AMICALOLA FM AGREEMENT
	7d. 2 FARMERS MARKET USE AGREEMENT.2022
	5. Duties and Obligations of CHAMBER. CHAMBER shall hold a Farmers Market at the Pavilion each Scheduled Day during the Term. On scheduled Saturdays, the Farmers Market shall not open for sales before 8:00 a.m. and shall end sales no later than 1:00 P...

	7e. 1 Executive Summary For Agenda Items LEAD EDGE CONTRACTS
	7e. 2 2022 Dawsonville General Services Agreement-Airport Design
	7e. 3 2022 Dawsonville General Services Agreement-Airport Master Planning
	7f. 1 Executive Summary SCADA UPGRADE
	8. 1 Executive Summary PROCLAMATIONS
	8. 2 PROCLAMATION - EXCEPTIONAL CHILDRENS WEEK
	8. 3 PROCLAMATION - EMPLOYEE APPRECIATION DAY
	9. 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ZA C2200058 Public Hearing 3-7-22
	9. 2 ZA-C2200058
	10. 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY VAR C2200060 Public Hearing 3-7-22
	10. 2 VAR-C2200060
	11. 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ZA C2200111 Public Hearing 3-7-22
	11. 2 ZA-C2200111
	12. 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ZA C2200112 Public Hearing 3-7-22
	12. 2 ZA-C2200112
	13. 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ZA C2200119 Public Hearing 3-7-22
	13. 2 ZA_C2200119_SDH_COLEMAN TRACT (1)
	14. 1 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY HPMA C2200124 Public Hearing 3-7-22
	14. 2 HPMA- C2200124_ALLEN ST PROP



